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SCOTTISH COMMISSION FOR PUBLIC AUDIT
AGENDA
2nd Meeting, 2006 (Session 2)
Wednesday 27 September 2006
The Commission will meet at 10.15 am in Committee Room 3.
1. Items in private: The Commission will consider whether to take agenda item 6 in
private.
2. SCPA Visit to the Public Accounts Commission: The Commission will receive
a report from the Convener on the SCPA visit to the Public Accounts
Commission.
3. Annual Accounts and Report on Accounts for the year to 31 March 2006:
The Commission will take evidence from—
Mr Robert Black, Auditor General for Scotland;
Russell Frith, Director of Audit Strategy; and
Ms Diane McGiffen, Director of Corporate Services.
and then from—
Richard Gibson , Haines Watts, External Auditors to Audit Scotland.
4. Audit Scotland’s Budget Proposal for 2007-08 and Autumn Budget
Revision: The Commission will take evidence from—
Mr Robert Black, Auditor General for Scotland;
Caroline Gardner, Deputy Auditor General; and
Ms Diane McGiffen, Director of Corporate Services.
5. Working Practices of the Commission: The Commission will consider a paper
from the Convener on proposed changes to procedures of the Commission.
6. Audit Scotland evidence: The Commission will consider the evidence taken at
agenda items 3 and 4 including the possible contents of its report on Audit
Scotland’s Budget proposal for 2007-08.

Rosalind Wheeler
Secretary to the Commission
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Scottish Commission for Public Audit
2nd Meeting 2006 (Session 2), Wednesday 27 September 2006
Report back on fact-finding visit to the Public Accounts Commission
Introduction
1. On 4 July the Convener accompanied by Margaret Smith MSP, the
Commission’s adviser and the Secretary undertook a visit to Westminster
which involved informal meetings with members of the Public Accounts
Commission (TPAC) and the Comptroller and Auditor General, Sir John
Bourn, followed by attendance at a formal meeting of TPAC.
2. The purpose of this paper is to report findings from the visit, specifically
elements of best practice adopted by the Public Accounts Commission, the
Comptroller and Auditor General and the National Audit Office. These are
outlined below.
Public Accounts Commission
Remit and membership
3. The role of the Public Accounts Commission is defined by the National Audit
Act 1983. The Commission’s principal duties under the Act are to examine the
National Audit Office Estimates, to consider Reports from the appointed
auditor of the National Audit Office, and to report from time to time. The
Commission has a membership of nine. Two of the members—the Leader of
the House of Commons and the Chairman of the Public Accounts Committee
(PAC)—are ex officio members. The remainder are appointed by the House of
Commons.
Powers under statute
4. In contrast to the SCPA’s statutory obligation to ‘examine proposals and
report’, the legislative basis for the Public Accounts Commission 1 , provides
that the Commission has the power to:
“examine any Estimates prepared by the C&AG to cover the expenses of the
NAO, and to lay such Estimates before the House of Commons with such
modifications, if any, as the Commission thinks fit.”
5. TPAC’s ability to amend budget proposals from the C&AG would appear to
give it a greater power over budget proposals than the SCPA. TPAC have
however never used these powers, in part due to the sensitivities associated
with the possibility of impinging upon the independence of C&AG and the
NAO.
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Working practices
6. An additional check and balance on the C&AG and NAO is the involvement of
the Treasury in the work of TPAC. It would appear to be common practice for
the Treasury to submit their comments on budget proposals from C&AG to
TPAC which can outline how the C&AG bid compares to the approach taken
in UK Government Department budget proposals. On occasion,
representatives of the Treasury also attend meetings and answer questions in
public session on whether the proposal is appropriate.
7. In terms of openness and accessibility, TPAC has similar practices to the
SCPA, having recently started meeting in public and publishing documents
such as agendas, minutes and reports on its website. In addition, the
Chairman of TPAC answers Parliamentary questions lodged by MPs.
8. For one-off pieces of capital expenditure, the Comptroller and Auditor General
informs TPAC of any sizeable pieces of expenditure that the NAO proposes to
undertake. The Commission may then agree to request further written
clarification on the reasoning behind this expenditure, or to call on the C&AG
to provide oral evidence. For example, at the formal meeting attended by
members of the SCPA, the C&AG and colleagues gave evidence on its
request to undertake refurbishment of its headquarters, including being asked
to demonstrate that other, potentially less expensive options had been
explored. This process allows TPAC to give additional scrutiny to sizeable bids
for one-off pieces of capital expenditure in advance of considering C&AG’s
overall budget proposal for the next financial year.
National Audit Office and the C&AG
Role
9. The NAO has a wider remit than that of Audit Scotland, holding responsibility
for auditing around 450 public sector organisations including the Department
of Work and Pensions, the Ministry of Defence and HM Revenue and
Customs. In supporting Parliament, the NAO supports the role of the Public
Accounts Committee, and in addition assists other select committees in their
scrutiny of UK Government programmes (15 appearances in the last year) and
looks into issues raised by individual members of Parliament.
Working practices
10. The NAO’s financial audit practice is subject to an annual review by an
independent monitoring body, the Quality Assurance Directorate of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, who evaluate
compliance with the profession’s audit regulations and best practice.
11. The NAO publishes within its Corporate Plan an estimate of what efficiency
savings are achieved in public services as a result of the NAO’s work, against
the cost of the NAO’s work. The 2006 Corporate Plan states that ‘A key
indicator of the contribution which the National Audit Office makes through its
work and the return which Parliament and taxpayers get for the money they
invest in the Office is the achievement of the £8:£1 savings target. The NAO
intends to increase this ratio to £9:£1 in 2007. As far as is possible, the basis
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for this estimate is verified by the NAO’s external auditors. A full explanation of
the process that led to such efficiency savings being identified and achieved is
detailed within a supplementary written submission from the C&AG,
reproduced at Annex A.
12. The NAO employs external bodies to peer review elements of its value for
money work, namely the London School of Economics and Oxford University,
who examine the business cases and draft reports for projects against a set of
agreed criteria (detailed within Annex A). The external reviewers then produce
a written report.
13. The NAO provides information on its progress against efficiency savings
targets within its Corporate Plan. The 2006 Plan states that “the National Audit
Office is committed to reducing annual costs by over £1.3 million over the four
years to 2008-9” and that “the office is currently ahead of target”. The process
that led to such efficiency savings being identified and achieved by the NAO is
outlined within Annex A.
Conclusion
14. It is intended that any practices TPAC currently adopts which the SCPA
wishes to consider mirroring will be incorporated into the SCPA’s draft legacy
paper for Members’ consideration.
15. Members may also wish to consider whether it would be appropriate for Audit
Scotland to mirror some of the practices adopted by the NAO.

Margaret Jamieson
Convener
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ANNEX A
LETTER FROM SIR JOHN BOURN TO THE CONVENER – 31 JULY 2006

REQUEST FOR INFORMATION ABOUT THE WORK OF THE NATIONAL AUDIT
OFFICE
Thank you very much for your letter of 11 July 2006. I am glad that you and your
colleagues found the meeting on 4 July helpful. As you say, unfortunately, we did not
have sufficient time to explore all the issues you wanted to cover. I am pleased,
however, to provide some notes in response to the supplementary questions set out
in your letter. I hope you find these helpful.
I should be very interested to see the paper you produce for the Commission. If
there are any further issues that you wish to explore beforehand, please do not
hesitate to contact me.

JOHN BOURN
(Approved by Sir John and
signed in his absence)
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INFORMATION REQUESTED BY THE SCOTTISH COMMISSION FOR PUBLIC
AUDIT
The role of Oxford University and the London School of Economics in peer
reviewing the National Audit Office’s work
Quality checks, entitled ‘hot reviews’, take place at two stages during a value for
money study. The first hot review takes place at the planning stage of a study,
before the business case is put to the Comptroller and Auditor General for approval.
The second hot review takes place when the report has been drafted and before it
enters the clearance process. Each stage consists of both an internal challenge and
an external review.
Internally, the hot review requires a minimum of three NAO staff, independent of the
study team. The role of the review team is to provide constructive challenge to the
study. At the end of each review, a note of each key action points is prepared.
After the internal review is complete, the business cases and draft reports are passed
to either the London School of Economics or Oxford University for comment. They
examine the business case and report against an agreed set of criteria (see below).
The external reviewers’ comments usually take the form of a written report. The
process is intended to strengthen the methodological foundations of a study and lead
to a published report of the highest quality.
(a) Criteria for assessing a business case
Will the study, if carried out as proposed, enable the team to arrive at a reasonable
conclusion about value for money?
Is the proposed evidence base sufficiently comprehensive? (including quantitative
and qualitative information as appropriate)?
Is sufficient emphasis placed on obtaining reliable and useful financial and
quantitative data about benefits, costs and performance in this area?
Are the methods of data collection reasonable? (are they sufficiently ambitious?)
Could the study team generate more useful data within the same resources?
Are the proposed methods of data analysis appropriate for the study question and as
rigorous as possible given the data available?
Are appropriate methods of triangulation proposed to ensure the robustness of
evidence and subsequent conclusions?
Is it clear how the proposed evidence collection and analysis will feed through into
results that can foster the formulation of convincing recommendations?
Has sufficient attention been given to the potential for financial impacts (savings or
better use of resources)? Are potential improvements in service quality, productivity
and effectiveness also addressed?
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Is there evidence of sufficiently comprehensive stakeholder analysis? And is this
adequately reflected in the proposed data sources?
Overall, does the proposed focus and approach appear reasonable for the timescale
proposed?
(b) Criteria for assessing a draft report
Is the rationale for undertaking the study clearly set out together with its objectives?
Does the report clearly describe the administrative and managerial context?
Does the report include sufficient financial analysis and quantitative information on
costs, benefits and performance? If not what would you have expected?
Is the report well structured and well-written? Does it include an effective executive
summary?
Is the report sufficiently succinct?
Are graphics and statistics appropriately used and well presented? Could they be
improved?
Is the methodology clearly set out? And does it include an appropriate range of
evaluative criteria and techniques?
Does the report reasonably conclude whether VFM has been achieved or is likely to
be, together with an indication of the action needed to achieve better VFM? Does the
report say enough about opportunities to improve productivity, effectiveness and
service performance?
Are the recommendations sufficiently specific, cost effective, convincing and
supported by the underlying analysis in the report?
As a report to Parliament is the draft sufficiently convincing in its use of evidence and
analysis and is it likely to maintain or enhance the NAO’s reputation?

6

SCPA/S2/06/02/1
The savings of £8 for every £1 net expenditure
Background
Since 1989-90, the NAO has used a system designed to measure the impact of its
work. The system aims to indicate how well it is doing in ‘helping the nation spend
wisely’ by quantifying the beneficial changes that have arisen as a result of our work.
The aim is to save £8 for every £1 granted by Parliament to run the Office. This will
rise to £9 in 2007.
All impacts are:


Directly attributable to National Audit Office work (i.e. they would not have arisen
without the Office's intervention)



Demonstrable net savings or efficiency improvements.



Agreed with the audited bodies both as to their attribution and their value.



Realised, in other words a real saving that has already occurred, not a future
benefit.



Subject to independent review each year to give assurance that the information is
reasonably stated based on the underlying methodologies and assumptions and
is supported by sound processes.

Standards on estimating, agreeing and recording financial impacts are set out in the
guide ‘Are YOU making an impact? A guide to planning for, measuring and recording
the financial impact of audit work’.
Where do impacts come from
Financial impacts achieved in 2005 amounted to approximately £555 million,
equivalent to over 8 times the net costs of running the Office. The total is made up of
70 individual impacts, a sample of which was reviewed by the Director of Internal
Assurance and our External Auditors, as part of their work to validate the information.
Impacts generally fall into 3 main types:
1.

Resource savings from making a process more efficient
o Reducing processing times, increased staff productivity from falls in
sickness absence rates, better workload management, or better
procurement

2.

Recovery of duplicate payments or receipt of additional revenue through
strengthening controls
o Recovery of overpayments, reduced fraud

3.

Economic benefits
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o Shorter hospital stays, better quality services, cheaper bills, environmental
benefits from reduced greenhouse gas emissions
Financial impacts from the first two types are easier to quantify.
Figures 1 & 2 compare the distribution for 2004 and 2005 impacts by client area and
source.
1 Percentage of total impacts arising from audit portfolios
2004 (%)

2005 (%)

14

25

Home Affairs

5

16

Cross-cutting studies

2

15

PFI

25

12

Welfare, Work

30

8

DCMS

6

6

DEFRA

2

5

Regulators

3

3

Transport

1

3

DTI

2

2

Defence

2

2

Health

8

2

DCLG

0

1

100

100

Customs and Revenue

Total

2 Percentage of total impacts arising from VFM and financial audit
2004 £m (%)

2005 £m (%)

Value for money work

335 (65)

424 (76)

Financial audit

143 (28)

117 (21)

37 (7)

14 (2)

0

0.5 (1)

515 (100)

555 (100)

Good governance work
Other
Total

Points to note:
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Departmental expenditure is not necessarily indicative of impacts potential. Some
of the smaller areas such as the Department for Culture, Media and Sport and the
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs have contributed more than
higher expenditure programmes.
Some departments, such as Revenue & Customs and the Department for Work
and Pensions which deal with a high volume of transactional-based services are
more likely to result in quantifiable changes. However, the National Audit Office’s
ability to identify and secure impacts reflects a combination of factors. It relies on:

the nature of the VFM study topic - eg procurement topics are more likely
to lead to financial impact than a report on service quality;

the quality of data available to monitor and compare change;

the Office’s ability to follow-up on recommendations;

the relationship with client, in particular, their willingness to accept
National Audit Office input; and

the ‘types’ of impact that arise – some improvements are qualitative and
therefore difficult to monetise, e.g. improvement to quality of life from
health work.
The bulk of financial savings arise from value for money work but there are some
large impacts from some financial audit assignments. Those impacts that do
arise from financial audit are usually cash-based.

Whether the non-financial performance indicators in Appendix 3 to the
corporate plan are monitored

The key performance indicator for the National Audit Office is its success in achieving
£8 savings for the taxpayer for every £1 resources consumed. Given its importance,
the Comptroller and Auditor General agreed that it should be subject to independent
validation each year.
While some of the other indicators derive from external scrutiny, for example
compliance with quality standards, and others are based on the audited accounts,
the majority of indicators included at Appendix 3 are internal targets intended to give
a view of the direction in which the National Audit Office is seeking to move over the
planning period. These indicators are monitored internally on a regular basis.
Whether individual health trusts pay fees for their annual audit

Individual English NHS bodies are charged fees for the external audits of their annual
accounts by their auditors. These fees are paid directly by the bodies themselves
and are accounted for in their accounts. The Department of Health (which funds the
English NHS) ensures that local NHS bodies have sufficient funds to cover all their
resource and capital expenditure, subject to limits approved by Parliament.
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Whether the National Audit Office requests client feedback and how this has
been reflected in working practices
The National Audit Office recognises the importance of maintaining its professional
reputation and ensuring that it has safeguards in place to manage any risks to the
quality and integrity of our work. Client feedback represents an important element of
this and this note provides information on the approach taken.
Financial audit
The National Audit Office seeks structured feedback from the bodies audited on the
quality and effectiveness of audits by questionnaires on a three year rolling basis,
subject to directors’ discretion. Recent feedback indicates that audited bodies were
generally satisfied with the level of service provided and in particular commented
favourably on the courtesy and professionalism of staff and the constructiveness and
usefulness of the advice provided.
Areas where audited bodies said they would like the National Audit Office to improve
were: the extent to which the audit placed reliance on their internal controls; reliance
on and co-ordination with the work of internal audit; and the phasing of audit work,
with a request for more emphasis on interim work. The Office is addressing these
issues through improvements to the audit process designed to accelerate the audit
cycle, and through updating staff guidance and highlighting issues in training. This
includes setting out the key findings from the quality assurance process in the annual
financial audit update training day, which is compulsory for all qualified financial audit
staff.
The National Audit Office’s financial audit practice is subject to an annual review by
an independent monitoring body, the Quality Assurance Directorate of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, who evaluate compliance with the
profession’s audit regulations and best practice. The Quality Assurance Directorate
found that the audit files reviewed were generally of a high standard and that the
Office’s internal quality review process is an effective tool to assess and feedback on
quality.
Value for money work
Feedback on each value for money study is obtained both during the development of
the study and after its publication. As explained earlier in the note, ‘hot’ reviews are
carried out internally, and externally (by the London School of Economics and Oxford
University) prior to each business case being put to the Comptroller and Auditor
General. These arrangements provide opportunities to enhance quality by drawing
on a wide range of internal and external perspectives before publication. The
Committee of Public Accounts has expressed an interest in how the National Audit
Office responds to comments made by the London School of Economics and Oxford
University as a result of their hot reviews and the Committee is provided with
information prior to each hearing to allow them to follow up with the relevant
institution any issues they wish to pursue.

10

SCPA/S2/06/02/1
The National Audit Office also obtains feedback from audited bodies after the
publication of each value for money report on issues such as the impact of the study;
how the study team designed and conducted its examination; the way in which
results were reported and media reaction; and areas for improvement. Generally
feedback has been positive, but where departments draw attention to aspects of our
work where the Office could do better, it takes this seriously and acts to improve
working practices. For example, in response to departments’ comments, the Office
has in the last few years improved its approach to consultation with the audited body
during a study.
Moderated feedback
In addition to the approaches used to gain feedback specifically on financial audit
and value for money, the National Audit Office has introduced a programme of client
feedback interviews with all government departments and a selection of other
government bodies spread over three years, starting in 2005. This exercise, known
as moderated feedback, is undertaken by RSM Robson Rhodes on behalf of the
Office. It consists of interviews with the Accounting Officer, Finance Director and
chair of the Audit Committee at the 50 bodies who will be contacted during the life of
the exercise.
The exercise is intended to identify those areas of the Office’s relationship with
audited bodies that work well and those where it needs to improve. The main
themes covered in the interviews are: the Office’s performance when carrying out its
audit duties; and the Office’s handling of its relationship with the audited departments
and agencies.
The main themes which emerged from the first year of the Moderated Feedback
exercise, based on feedback from 19 departments and agencies, were as follows:
•

Most organisations felt that their relationship with the National Audit Office was
well balanced, productive and appropriate for an audit-based relationship, and
that this relationship had improved over time. The integrity and challenge of
the Office was respected and valued.

•

Financial audit work was generally viewed positively, with the Office being
perceived as having strong technical expertise and were seen to complete
work to a high standard. There were some concerns about perceived overauditing and poor performance by contractors.

•

On value for money work, performance was seen to be more variable. Value
for money studies were seen as valuable but some respondents felt that there
was scope to enhance their impact by improving the scoping and initiation,
knowledge sharing and timeliness of reports.

•

There was interest in the Office adopting a broader improvement role through
which it could add considerable value to departments and agencies. Relevant
activities the Office could develop further included cross-government
benchmarking and keeping organisations across government up to date with
emerging issues.

•

A challenge for the Office was gauging the most appropriate relationship with
audited bodies. Some bodies wanted a more formal relationship while others
11
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sought a more consultative relationship. Greater clarification was needed
about the position of the Office when it moved from an audit to an advisory
role.
The process that led to efficiency savings being identified and achieved
The Comptroller and Auditor General made a commitment to reduce back office
costs by 2.5 per cent a year when he gave evidence to the Public Accounts
Commission in July 2005 on the corporate plan for 2004. The commitment was
intended to match, and indeed better, the commitments the Government were then
seeking from government departments. The costs referred to are those set out in
Table 15 on page 28 of the 2006 corporate plan and include the costs of running the
headquarters building, IT and printing costs, and HR and training.
Following the Commission’s approval of the 2004 corporate plan, the National Audit
Office reviewed the relevant budgets and identified the scope for making reductions
over the corporate plan period. Important areas included HR budgets, including
those for early departure costs and elective training activity, and the level of subsidy
needed to support the staff restaurant. In practice, there may be unforeseen
variations in costs from year to year – a current example being energy prices. The
Office therefore has to revisit the plans each year and if it needs to accommodate
some unforeseen extra costs, compensating reductions must be identified elsewhere.
The reductions in the back office budgets listed at Table 15 of the 2006 corporate
plan have helped the National Audit Office increase the proportion of overall
resources (including staff costs) used on front-line activity. Appendix 3 shows that
the proportion has increased from 64 per cent in 2003-04 to 69 per cent in 2005-06,
with a target of 75 per cent by 2008-09. Other factors which will contribute to this
improvement include: making sure additional resources approved by Parliament are
used to deliver front-line work; securing more productive use of staff time; better
procurement; exploring the scope for sharing back office functions with other
organisations; and by reducing internal processing costs.
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Management Commentary

An introduction to Audit Scotland
What we do
Audit Scotland exists to:
•
•
•
•
•

provide services to the Auditor General and Accounts Commission
promote high standards of governance, stewardship and management
deliver high quality public audit
support service improvement and best value
report in the public interest.

Audit Scotland provides objective assessments of governance, financial stewardship and performance on behalf
of the Auditor General and Accounts Commission. Audit Scotland operates under the Public Finance and
Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000.
As the public audit agency for Scotland, Audit Scotland is at the heart of the governance and performance of
public services. Our aim is twofold; to hold public bodies to account and to help them improve. We do this by
delivering an independent public audit regime, covering about 200 public bodies in Scotland which spend a
total of more than £27 billion a year. We audit around 110 of these organisations in-house and almost 90 audits
are delivered by private firms on behalf of the Auditor General and the Accounts Commission.
In our 2005-08 Corporate Plan, we published our three corporate priorities:
•
•
•

Supporting effective democratic scrutiny
Maximising the value of the audit
Building an efficient and effective organisation

This management commentary therefore reports our progress against these priorities.
Highlights for 2005/06 have been:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Eight local government Best Value audit reports published
Thirty-eight performance audit reports and 196 annual audit reports produced
The National Fraud Initiative carried out across all local authorities, finding £15m in overpayments and
savings
Modernised audit successfully rolled out in the NHS and piloted in local and central government
Integrated overview reports published for the NHS and local government
Assisted the Auditor General and Accounts Commission in the procurement process for the next five-year
audit appointments
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Our year
During the year we doubled our output of Best Value audits, saw the first full year of the modernised audit and
worked to our three corporate priorities.
We produced 38 reports on the performance of services and organisations, delivered 196 annual audit reports to
audited bodies and also delivered a comprehensive study programme.
Together with the Auditor General and the Accounts Commission, we help to ensure that the Scottish Executive
and other public sector bodies in Scotland spend public money properly, efficiently and effectively.
The Auditor General is appointed by the Crown and is independent. He reports to the Scottish Parliament and
oversees the audits of departments of the Scottish Executive, NHS boards and special health boards, further
education colleges, Scottish Water and government agencies.
The Accounts Commission is appointed by Scottish ministers, is independent of local councils and government
and can make reports and recommendations to Scottish ministers. Scotland’s 32 councils and 35 joint boards are
audited by auditors appointed by the Accounts Commission.
This management commentary for 2005/06 sets out our progress under each of our three corporate priorities.
We recognise that there is always room for improvement in the way public audit is delivered, and we believe we
have made significant progress in delivering an audit regime that is valued by audited bodies, stakeholders and
service users.
Our twin aims of holding to account and helping to improve continue to drive everything we do. The past year
has seen us make real progress in achieving these goals. For example, 2005/06 saw the roll out of our
modernised approach to audit, with the completion of the first full year in health and pilots in both local and
central government. We will continue to look for improvements to this new approach but we have been struck
by the positive response from audited bodies (whom we see as important clients for this work) and stakeholders.
We are particularly encouraged that in this report we provide some examples of the good work we have found
in public services in Scotland. Our role gives us the opportunity to work with many talented and committed
public servants and we are grateful to them for their assistance and support during the year. At times it is our
role to be challenging as well as supportive, and generally public bodies respond constructively to this.
We continue to strive to keep the cost of audit down, and our annual expenditure remains less than 0.1% of total
public sector expenditure in Scotland. We must keep challenging ourselves to deliver public audit more
efficiently and effectively, responding to the challenge of best value and minimising the burden of scrutiny.
Looking ahead, we have published our corporate plan for 2006-09 which confirms our three corporate priorities
(the plan is available at www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/audit/corpdocs.htm). Our focus is on rolling out the
modernised audit and delivering high quality performance audits for the Auditor General and Accounts
Commission. We will also aim to provide more support to public bodies in the form of events such as seminars
and specialised one-off publications, and focus our work more on the needs of the people who use public
services.
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Supporting effective democratic scrutiny
Our work
Our work helps identify where resources can be better used and whether quality is improving.
In 2005/06, among other things, we reported that:
•
•
•
•

Transferring the ownership of council houses to social landlords will facilitate £3.2 billion of investment
into homes, while keeping rent increases to 1% or less
Nearly half of patients on waiting lists would travel more than 50 miles to get earlier treatment but only 5%
are offered this
Scottish Water has cut its operating costs by a third, or almost £100 million, in the past three years
The number of further education colleges operating in deficit halved, from 18 to nine, between 2002 and
2004.

We have a role in ensuring good governance in Scotland’s public sector by helping elected and appointed
representatives scrutinise public services. We report in public and give those representatives independent
evidence to allow them to hold public bodies to account and to help them improve. During 2005/06 we
produced 234 reports (246 in 2004/05).
We consult widely on our work programme so we can concentrate on the issues that matter. We aim to
understand and report on the experiences of service users and to ensure our reports are clear and timely. As well
as highlighting strengths and areas for improvement in the public sector, we focus on the key priorities and risks
at the bodies we audit. We enable the Auditor General and the Accounts Commission to bring matters of
governance, accountability and improvement to the attention of the Scottish Parliament and ministers.

Reports
The following reports were published during the year:
Moving on?: An overview of delayed discharges in Scotland and Council housing transfers
(these two reports covered matters involving both local government and/or central government/NHS)
6 central government reports
5 NHS reports
8 Best Value reports
(introduced in 2004/05, Best Value audits are designed to give a rounded picture of a council’s performance.
All 32 councils will be covered in a rolling three-year programme).
5 other local authority reports
(including one Performance Indicators compendium and one PI profiles report)
12 reports on accounts to the Scottish Parliament
(Section 22 reports – Auditor General reports raising issues arising from annual audits of public bodies under
his responsibility)
196 annual audit reports to audited bodies
(these are annual summary reports on each public body. They provide an opinion on financial management and
highlight the main issues arising from the audit in each body)
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Reports (continued)
5 other publications
(including Corporate Plan 2005-08, two progress reports on race relations and race equality legislation, a guide
to Audit Scotland and a Memorandum of Understanding with NHS Quality Improvement Scotland)
Details of most of the above reports can be found in the Reports Published section on the following pages.
All our reports are issued to the relevant audited bodies and most are sent to other stakeholders and published
on our website. This allows organisations to share examples of good practice and act on any recommendations.
Auditor General reports are considered by the Audit Committee of the Scottish Parliament, and local
government and Best Value reports are considered by the Accounts Commission.

The good work we find
During the course of our fieldwork, Audit Scotland finds many examples of good practice and achievement at
the bodies we examine. One of the reasons for reporting in public is to share such practice with the rest of the
public sector. Among the many examples we reported in 2005/06 were the following:
•

By using physiotherapists and GPs with specialist knowledge NHS Grampian is working towards cutting
the number of orthopaedic hospital referrals by 40%, or 4,000 cases a year. This aims to free consultants to
spend more time performing operations, in turn further reducing waiting times
(Tackling waiting times in the NHS in Scotland, 16 February 2006)

•

At Dalry Primary School in North Ayrshire the strong leadership of its head teacher has directly affected the
achievements and experiences of the children and staff. HMIE has praised her impact on the previously
struggling school’s progress, performance and morale (Leadership Development: How government works
series, 17 November 2005)

•

West Lothian Council and the former West Lothian Healthcare NHS Trust set up a joint health and
community care team, with a rapid response service to reduce the need for hospital admissions or enable
earlier discharges than previously possible. The team reduced the number of people waiting for discharges
by 60% and saved 3,200 bed nights during 2003 to 2005 (West Lothian Council: The audit of best value
and community planning, 30 June 2005)

•

The Scottish Executive and Communities Scotland produced new guidance on the housing transfers due to
complete in 2006 and 2007. The guidance benefits from the experience gained in earlier transfers.
Improvements to the process mean that current transfers are expected to take just over two years on average
to complete (Council housing transfers, 24 March 2006)

National Fraud Initiative
Audit Scotland, working with the Audit Commission in England and Wales, external auditors and a range of
public bodies in Scotland, facilitated a major anti-fraud initiative as part of the audits of the 2004/05 financial
year. The exercise, the National Fraud Initiative, covered all councils, police and fire boards, the Scottish Public
Pensions Agency and the Student Awards Agency for Scotland. The exercise used computerised data-matching
to compare information about housing benefit applicants, public sector employees and pensioners, students and
the deceased, to identify a range of circumstances that might indicate fraud or error. These matches were passed
to the audited bodies to investigate and to report back their findings. Fraud, overpayments and savings of £15.1
million have been found. Taking previous pilot exercises into account, the cumulative fraud and error detected
by the NFI in Scotland amounts to around £23 million. Audit Scotland will carry out the NFI again in 2006/07,
and is working with the Audit Commission to extend the scope of the exercise to other areas that have already
produced good results in England and Wales.
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UK and international standards setting
Audit Scotland contributes to the development of accounting and auditing standards in the UK through
membership of a number of bodies including the Financial Reporting Advisory Board, the CIPFA/LASAAC
Joint Committee and the Auditing Practices Board Public Sector Sub-Committee. Audit Scotland staff
participate in the workings of many other panels and working groups that produce detailed guidance for public
sector bodies. Reflecting the increasing importance of global standards to the UK public sector, we also
contribute to the international auditing standard setting process through the work of the INTOSAI Expert
Reference Panel and by responding to drafts of relevant standards.

Links with other scrutiny bodies
Audit Scotland and other bodies put a significant amount of effort into working together to streamline our
scrutiny of public services. This is achieved primarily through the Joint Scrutiny Forum and the Inspectorates
Forum, and through bilateral agreements. In 2005/06 we signed a Memorandum of Understanding with NHS
Quality Improvement Scotland, similar to an existing memorandum we have with the Scottish Public Services
Ombudsman. These set out each body’s powers and responsibilities, and arrangements for joining up audit and
review in public bodies. We also have a track record of joint work with inspectorates and other bodies, such as
our joint inspections of education authorities with HM Inspectorate of Education, and joint studies with HMIE,
HM Inspectorate of Constabulary, and NHS QIS.

Links with other audit agencies
Audit Scotland is in regular contact with the other public audit agencies in the UK, both through formal and
informal means. Audit Scotland takes a full part in the Public Audit Forum (PAF), a body formed by the
agencies in the four UK nations to provide a focus for developing public audit, making public audit more
efficient and effective, advising on common technical problems and spreading good practice. During 2005/06,
Audit Scotland continued to develop links with other audit agencies in the UK with, for example, staff
secondments on particular projects. We also undertake the audit of the Scottish-based operations of UK-wide
organisations, such as the Forestry Commission.

International development work
Audit Scotland has been involved in a number of projects to help countries across Europe modernise their
public governance systems. In 2005/06, two staff members have worked with the Sigma project in Lithuania,
Bulgaria, Estonia and Malta. Sigma (Support for Improvement in Governance and Management) is a joint
initiative of the European Union and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. The
programmes gives support to help modernise public governance systems in new EU countries and EU candidate
nations and build public institutions and systems in the Balkan states. During the year we have hosted
representatives of the audit offices of Estonia, China, Russia, Western Australia and Denmark. The Auditor
General also spoke at a conference in Seville and joined the Audit Committee of the Scottish Parliament on a
fact-finding visit to Denmark.

Tendering process for audit work
The Auditor General and the Accounts Commission appoint private firms to carry out about 90 of the annual
audits provided for public bodies. At the end of September 2005 we started facilitating the process of making
appointments for the period 2006/07 to 2010/11. This included reorganising the portfolios of work to cluster
council audits and to appoint the same auditor to councils, health boards and other community planning partners
in the same geographical area where practicable. The tender process also stressed the importance of auditors
working in partnership to produce more efficient and effective overall audit arrangements.
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Efficient Government Initiative
In the past year Audit Scotland has worked in a number of ways to support the Scottish Executive’s Efficient
Government Initiative, which aims to make public services more efficient and generate annual savings of £745
million by 2007/08. In February 2005, the Executive formally invited Audit Scotland to audit the Scottish
public sector’s performance in achieving the plan’s targets. We set up an Efficient Government Coordinating
Group to oversee our work, which has included:
•
•

•
•

reviewing the Executive’s Efficiency Technical Notes, which form the basis of the plan’s targets. We
commented on the work needed to support and monitor the plan
helping the Scottish Executive’s Efficient Government Delivery Group (EGDG) develop guidance on
recording and reporting efficiency statements and in specifying audit requirements. During 2006 we will
review the public sector’s progress on the plan and assess the EGDG’s management of it, and report in
public
liaising with our UK public audit counterparts on Efficient Government. This includes sharing information
and best practice, and co-sponsoring a joint proposal on developing benchmarks for public bodies’
administrative facilities
developing and implementing a diagnostic tool to assess how well public bodies can identify, monitor,
deliver and report efficiency savings. The tool is designed to establish a clear and systematic approach to
the audit of Efficient Government and ensure Audit Scotland has ‘real-time’ information on progress on the
initiative. It also aims to establish clear baseline information to highlight key risks and to enable high level
comparisons between bodies and sectors.

We will report the outcomes from our Efficient Government audit work through reports to audited bodies, Best
Value reports on councils, references in our national studies programme reports, and sector overview reports.
We are also planning to undertake more detailed work of some of the plan’s key themes once the initiative is
well underway.
More information and the diagnostic tool can be found at:
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/audit/efficient.htm

Statutory performance indicators
In 2005/06 the Accounts Commission changed the way it reported the performance of Scotland’s councils
against its statutory performance indicators (SPIs). This new approach allowed us to make the SPI Data
Compendium (the Compendium) and Council Profiles available on our web site in December, two months
earlier than in previous years. This change reflected the needs of our stakeholders, who use the data for
assessing performance and benchmarking progress.
The Compendium provides all the SPI data for Scotland’s councils, fire brigades and police forces. The Council
Profiles give individual profile reports on Scotland’s councils, with details of their performance against a range
of indicators, and reports comparing councils on a range of key services.
As part of the changed system of reporting, we did not publish the accompanying annual series of pamphlets
about separate services. Instead, we integrated commentary on a number of key findings from the Compendium
into the Local Authority Overview Report published in March 2006. Findings from the SPIs are also used in our
Best Value audits and national studies.
As a result of these changes, we saved about £20,000 in publication costs for 2005/06. In future the new
approach will also save about £12,500 a year in staff and cover artwork costs.
These reports as well as the SPI Data Compendium and Council Profiles can be found at www.auditscotland.gov.uk/performance/index.htm
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Reports published in 2005/06
Cross cutting
(Reports for both the Auditor General and the Accounts Commission)
Moving on?:
An overview of delayed discharges in Scotland
together with
Moving on?:
A handbook on modelling the whole system for delayed discharges in Tayside
(both 23 June 2005)
The report highlighted the need for action across all parts of the health and community care system to solve the
problem of patients who cannot be discharged from hospital even though they are medically fit to leave. It also
found that although the number of patients delayed in hospital was steadily falling, a growing older population
meant that further action was needed to sustain this progress.
The handbook focuses on an innovative project in which Audit Scotland worked with the NHS board and three
councils that make up the Tayside Partnership to share an understanding of how its local care system worked;
identify key factors that lead to delays in Tayside; and develop a computerised model to help Tayside test
strategies to reduce delayed discharges.

Council housing transfers
(24 March 2006)
The transfer of council housing ownership is bringing benefits for tenants. The report said management of
transfers was improving but better, clearer measures were needed to assess impact and value for money. The
hand over of more than 100,000 council homes to new landlords since 1998 has brought more investment in
properties - doubling it in Glasgow - and promoted tenant control. It is facilitating increased repairs and
maintenance and the building of new homes, and is keeping rent increases down. The Scottish Executive should
now reinforce its approach with clearer goals and measures for quality of service and tenant involvement. This
would help increase the overall impact and the value for money of transfers.

Central government
(Reports for the Auditor General)
Overview of the water industry in Scotland
(13 October 2005)
Scottish Water has made a good start in raising the water industry’s performance but can make further
improvements. The report found that since Scottish Water’s creation in 2002, the body had improved the
efficiency and performance of the water industry and cut operating costs significantly. However, the report said
Scottish Water could further improve, and that it faced a challenging timetable for its £1.8bn capital investment
programme.
Scottish Executive:
Supporting new initiatives
(How Government Works series)
(10 November 2005)
Last year the Scottish Executive launched new initiatives amounting to £1.4 billion. The management of these
projects is generally sound, but making changes could help to improve control of the funding and allow better
assessment of whether the money is helping to achieve policy aims.
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Reports published in 2005/06 (continued)
Leadership development
(How Government Works series)
(17 November 2005)
Scotland’s public sector has good examples of investment in leadership but many individual organisations do
not have clear policies and most are unable to link the spending to improvements in their performance. Strategic
planning and co-ordination is needed to make sure that the £5m they invested each year in leadership
development results in better managed organisations and better services.
Scottish Executive:
The NorthLink ferry services contract
(22 December 2005)
The Auditor General asked Audit Scotland to investigate the Scottish Executive’s handling of a five-year
contract, which began in October 2002, to run the lifeline ferry service to the Northern Isles. This followed
reports that the total subsidy paid to service operator NorthLink had risen substantially. The main finding was
that the Scottish Executive Transport Group (SETG) carried out a proper tendering exercise and NorthLink was
awarded the contract because it submitted the lowest bid for subsidy in accordance with the relevant EC
regulations. However there were some limitations in the information originally given to bidders, and SETG has
worked with NorthLink to improve this for a new tender.

Scottish Further Education Funding Council:
A progress report
(26 January 2006)
The Scottish Further and Higher Education Funding Council, or the Funding Council, is making progress on a
number of fronts. Concerns over performance management are being tackled and a more detailed picture of the
sector’s achievements is emerging. However, the report highlighted areas where further improvements were
required, including accumulated deficits at seven colleges, the need for clarity over the strategic direction of
further education, and improvements in performance information.
Performance management in Scottish Enterprise
(16 March 2006)
Scottish Enterprise needs to improve how it evaluates its activities to provide a clearer assessment of its
contribution to growing Scotland's economy. However this can be difficult to measure and Scottish Enterprise’s
approach appears to be well advanced compared with international counterparts. The report recommended
Scottish Enterprise work with the Scottish Executive to clarify on its contribution to the Smart Successful
Scotland policy. Scottish Enterprise has met all of its progress measures and introduced new processes and
guidance that should help to improve its performance.

NHS
(Reports for the Auditor General)
Waste management in Scottish hospitals:
A follow-up report
(12 May 2005)
The report found that whilst progress has been made since the time of Audit Scotland’s earlier study in 2001,
NHS boards and hospitals were still not managing hospital waste as well as they could. In particular they
needed to increase their recycling and ensure they sorted and stored all waste properly.
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Reports published in 2005/06 (continued)
A Scottish prescription:
Managing the use of medicines in hospitals
(28 July 2005)
Recent years have seen an increase in the number and complexity of medicines available to treat patients and in
the types of staff who can prescribe them. The average spend on medicines per patient in an acute hospital has
risen by 65 per cent since 2001/02. The NHS in Scotland could improve the management of medicines in
hospitals to make sure patients are getting the most benefit from the money spent in this area.
Overview of the performance of the NHS in Scotland
(8 December 2005)
Scotland's health service is achieving better clinical outcomes and cutting most waiting times. The service has
improved the availability of treatment and is successfully tackling prioritised conditions such as cancer, stroke
and heart disease. However, in other areas performance was mixed and the NHS needs to improve its financial
and workforce management to face future challenges.
Tackling waiting times in the NHS in Scotland
(16 February 2006)
The NHS in Scotland has made significant progress towards meeting waiting time targets over recent years but
future targets are likely to be challenging. Since 2001 the health service has made good progress in reducing the
longest waits for inpatient, day case and outpatient care for people with waiting time guarantees. However the
NHS needs to work more on developing approaches across the whole health and community care system to
tackle waiting times.
Implementing the NHS consultant contract in Scotland
(9 March 2006)
A new contract for consultants has cost the NHS in Scotland an extra £235m in its first three years but clear
evidence of its benefits has yet to emerge. The new contract offers an opportunity to improve patient care by
planning consultants’ work better, but it is not yet being used to its full potential. The Scottish Executive, health
boards and consultants need to work together so that the contract achieves benefits for patients. The Executive
can also learn lessons from the implementation of this contract for the management of other large scale projects.

Best Value
(Reports for the Accounts Commission)
Best Value audits were developed in 2003/04 to assess how well councils are meeting their statutory duty to
provide Best Value and to give the public an overview of how well their council is performing. The Best Value
audits are designed to give a rounded picture of each council, looking at past performance and future plans and
taking into account the particular constraints and opportunities facing each council. The first four Best Value
audits were carried out in the 2004/05 year, and in 2005/06 Audit Scotland continued to roll out the programme,
publishing another eight reports.

Inverclyde Council:
The audit of best value and community planning
(2 June 2005)
The report said Inverclyde Council must take urgent, remedial action to address weaknesses in leadership and
direction. Extensive and fundamental weaknesses in the leadership and direction provided by elected members
and senior management were significant factors in preventing Inverclyde Council from improving. The report
said the council should get appropriate external assistance to address its core problems.
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Reports published in 2005/06 (continued)
West Lothian Council:
The audit of best value and community planning
(30 June 2005)
The report praised West Lothian Council for its ability to transform its ambitious vision for the local area into
improving services for the people who live there. The report said the council performed well and was fully
committed to continuous improvement.
Dundee City Council:
The audit of best value and community planning
(5 October 2005)
Dundee City Council’s services generally perform well for its community. The council is committed to
regeneration, has ambitious plans for the city and has made significant achievements in community planning
and joint working. But there are a number of improvements required, including the way in which service
performance is scrutinised and in the openness of decision making.
East Renfrewshire Council:
The audit of best value and community planning
(11 October 2005)
The report found that East Renfrewshire Council was ambitious and successful and service performance was
generally strong and improving. While the report identified some areas for further improvement it stated that
East Renfrewshire demonstrated many of the attributes of a council achieving Best Value.
Inverclyde Council:
The audit of best value and community planning - progress report
(30 November 2005)
The report considered the steps taken by Inverclyde Council to address the concerns raised in the Commission’s
initial Best Value audit report in June. The report said that whilst the council had made progress on its recovery,
there was still a long way to go.
Glasgow City Council:
The audit of best value and community planning
(19 January 2006)
The Accounts Commission commended Scotland’s largest council for its progress on its improvement agenda
and, its commitment to change. However the report acknowledged the significant challenges still facing the
council and also highlighted the areas it needed to focus on, including its performance in some key service
areas.
The Moray Council:
The audit of best value and community planning
(8 February 2006)
The report stated that the council was not yet in a position to deliver Best Value to the people it serves. The
council was described as inward looking, and as having considerable variation in service performance. A
number of its practices, including the way in which it managed performance and monitored the competitiveness
of its services, were weak.
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Reports published in 2005/06 (continued)
Argyll and Bute Council:
The audit of best value and community planning
(14 February 2006)
Argyll & Bute Council faces particular challenges because of its geographical make-up and the fact that its
population is spread over a wide area. However, even taking this into account, the council needs to do more to
improve services for local people improve. The council remains traditional in its approach to managing its
business and needs clearer leadership and drive to follow through on its initiatives and to embed a culture of
continuous improvement in the organisation.

Local government
(Reports for the Accounts Commission)
Improving customer service through better customer contact
(19 May 2005)
The report looked at how councils dealt with requests for services and information from their customers,
including taxpayers and business contacts. While councils have made improvements, the report said they
needed to review organisation and leadership to ensure their customer service was as efficient and effective as
possible.
Following the Public Pound:
A follow-up report
(15 December 2005)
Councils need better information about their funding of external organisations and what is obtained for the
money provided. Scottish councils provided £220 million to 14,000 organisations to deliver a wide range of
council-related services. The report found that no council fully complied with guidance which sets out best
practice principles when councils fund external organisations. There was a high level of performance in nine
councils, moderate performance in 18 councils and a low level of performance in five.
Overview of the local authority audits 2005
(30 March 2006)
Scotland's councils are facing major challenges and the report called on them to further increase their pace of
change and improvement. Local authorities are working in an environment of major change as central
government seeks to reform and modernise public services. They need to pay particular attention to developing
their longer term financial planning and improving the information they have about how their services are
performing. However financial stewardship at councils is generally sound and statutory performance indicators
show overall improvement in a range of areas.

Section 22s
Auditor General reports, made under Section 22 of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000,
raising issues arising from annual audits of public bodies under his responsibility. Twelve Section 22 reports
were presented to Parliament. These reports were on:
The 2003/04 audit of Inverness College
The 2003/04 audit of West Lothian College
The 2003/04 audit of Lews Castle College
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Section 22s (continued)
The 2004/05 audit of the Scottish Prison Service
The 2004/05 audit of Argyll and Clyde Health Board
The 2004/05 audit of Grampian Health Board
The 2004/05 audit of Highland Health Board
The 2004/05 audit of Lanarkshire Health Board
The 2004/05 audit of Western Isles Health Board
The 2004/05 audit of Scottish Executive consolidated resource accounts
The 2004/05 audit of the NHS Pension Scheme Scotland accounts
The 2004/05 audit of Inverness College

Maximising the value of the audit
Delivering the audit
This year saw:
•
•
•

the first full year of the modernised audit in the health sector
the development of a Best Value approach for health and central government
integrated overview reports covering the NHS, local government and the water industry in Scotland.

We aim to continually improve the way we work so our audits can achieve the best possible value and impact
for the public. During 2005/06 we continued to develop and roll-out our modernised approach to audit, and
refine our methods for Best Value audits and national studies.
To do this we try to ensure our staff have the knowledge and skills to support new ways of working, and to
build the experiences of service users into the audit process. We measure the public value of our work by
seeking feedback, tracking changes that occur as a result of our work, reviewing the quality of the work and
assessing public perceptions of Audit Scotland.

Delivering the modernised audit
In 2005/06 Audit Scotland carried out the first full year of the modernised audit in the health service. We also
piloted this new approach in local and central government. Feedback from audited bodies and stakeholders has
been very positive, recognising that, through the development of priority and risk frameworks, we are taking the
time to better understand what they do. For example:
•

Following the first full year of the modernised audit, a survey of health clients found that 82% of clients
found their management letters and governance reports either ‘excellent’ or ‘good’, while 88% found
the annual audit report to be ‘excellent’ or ‘good’
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Delivering the modernised audit (continued)
•
•

In local government, pilots of the modernised audit in the two councils that took part were well
received. A post implementation review was conducted on the two pilots, and recommendations have
been taken forward into the audits of the 2005/06 year
In central government, the modernised audit was piloted in three areas of the Scottish Executive.
Central government poses a different challenge to the health and local government portfolios in that it
covers a wide variety of organisations and subject areas. As a result of changes to the way we managed
the Scottish Executive audit, we were able to issue our audit reports on their accounts one month earlier
than the previous audit year.

Impact of the modernised audit
Following the full roll out of the modernised audit in the NHS sector in 2004/05, Audit Scotland sought
feedback from clients. The response was very positive. Below are anonymised comments from NHS boards.
‘The inception of the Priorities and Risks Framework has given a more balanced overall framework for
reporting. This is more closely linked with key organisational matters.’
‘The targeting of risks to be reviewed and the clarity of reporting of findings are positive aspects. The PRF is a
particularly beneficial approach.’
‘The most positive aspect of Audit Scotland’s reports this year was the overall improvement in the quality. This
appeared to be partly due to the Audit Scotland’s more risk-based approach which was then reflected in the
quality and relevance of the reports.’
While we feel it has been a successful year we continue to seek opportunities to improve the way we deliver the
audit. For example, we are currently developing our approach to the local and best value audits to identify ways
in which they can be delivered more seamlessly, to the benefit of clients, stakeholder and the audit teams.

Reporting arrangements
In 2005/06, 196* final annual audits were completed. Of these, 113 were done by Audit Scotland and 83 by
private accountancy firms.
Auditors report to the Auditor General and the Accounts Commission. In some cases their work results in
requests for further reports on specific issues, or the audits may be used as the basis of wider overviews of
entire sectors. Auditors also report directly to the public bodies they audit, enabling them to identify problems
and plan improvements themselves.
In 2005/06 auditors reported a range of issues to the Auditor General which he drew to the attention of the
Scottish Parliament. This resulted in 12 reports on accounts (Section 22 reports). Some related to technical
accounting matters, while others were about issues such as the breach of EU procurement regulations at
Western Isles Health Board, potential liability at the Scottish Prison Service and deficits at three FE colleges
and four health boards.
There were no qualifications to the accounts of local authorities, for only the second time since local
government reorganisation in 1996. There were two qualifications in the previous year. There were no reports to
the Accounts Commission as a result of illegality, loss or impropriety in the way a local authority conducted its
financial affairs.
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Reporting arrangements (continued)
Breakdown of audited bodies:
Central government

59

NHS

24

Further education

42**

Councils

32

Joint boards

35

Water sector

1

Total

193*

* These numbers are different because in October 2005 the Scottish Further Education Funding Council and the
Scottish Higher Education Funding Council merged to form the Scottish Funding Council. Audit Scotland
produced final audit reports for the first six months of the 2005/06 year for both bodies during 2005/06
** During 2004/05 Glasgow College of Building and Printing and Glasgow College of Food Technology
merged to form Glasgow Metropolitan College. Audit Scotland produced final audit reports for all three bodies
during 2005/06

Delivering quality
We remain committed to delivering a public audit service that is valued by clients, stakeholders and the general
public. In order to do this, we need to ensure quality in everything we do. In 2005 we revised the Corporate
Quality Framework for Audit Scotland. Building on existing approaches to quality management in the
organisation, the corporate framework aims to provide greater consistency in quality control, management and
review.
We recognise that quality can be measured in a number of ways and drawn from a number of sources. We have
already outlined the emerging impact on clients of the modernised audit. In addition, our Audit Strategy Group
undertakes quality appraisals of audits, both those delivered by Audit Scotland and those delivered by external
firms. All but one of the auditors appraised in 2005/06 obtained a satisfactory assessment (in 2004/05 all
auditors appraised obtained satisfactory assessments). Action was taken by the auditor to change the audit team
and ensure that the issues identified were addressed.
The involvement of private accountancy firms in public sector audit continues to support the quality of the
overall audit output. In 2005/06 we assisted the Auditor General and the Accounts Commission in tendering for
our external appointments for the next five year audit cycle (see page five for more information).
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Building an efficient and effective organisation
Running the business
In 2005/06 we continued our efforts to make Audit Scotland a more efficient and effective organisation. We
have been making changes in the way we run our business, just as audited bodies are expected to improve the
way they run theirs. Our commitment to continuous improvement is illustrated by the developments in the way
we manage our people, processes and technologies.
The task of auditing Scotland’s public bodies has expanded greatly since 2000. In 2005/06, Audit Scotland
spent £25 million on services for the Auditor General and the Accounts Commission: this is less than 0.1% of
the £27 billion spent by the bodies that are audited. The majority of these costs are recovered through charges to
these organisations with the balance received as direct funding from the Scottish Parliament. Details of Audit
Scotland’s income and expenditure and financial position are given in the accounts, pages 29-32. For 2006/07
the Scottish Parliament has approved net funding of £6.4 million for revenue costs and £0.5 million for capital.
Audit Scotland is committed to achieving best value in how we manage our financial resources, people and
technology. To do this we must ensure our staff have the necessary professional and managerial skills and the
appropriate technology, and that we manage our resources efficiently.
We are developing and rolling out a management development programme, and have mechanisms in place to
monitor its impact and value for money. Similarly, we are implementing a new finance system. Other projects
include an electronic document and records management system, improved internal and external
communications and an environmental management strategy. We carry out internal best value reviews and seek
feedback from inside and outside the organisation on our performance.

Efficiency and effectiveness
The Audit Scotland Board is prescribed in statute. One of its main functions is to enable most of the work for
the Auditor General and the Accounts Commission to be performed by a single audit agency, with consequent
gains in efficiency and effectiveness.
We apply best value principles to everything that we do in managing our resources. For example, over 2004/05
and 2005/06 we were able to reduce audit charges to the NHS in Scotland by 10%. At the same time we
significantly improved the audit outputs to NHS bodies and to Parliament. This is seen in the improved
financial and performance overview reporting to Parliament, which did not exist before 2000.
The largest part of our income comes from charges to audited bodies. We benchmark our charging regime
using information from the Audit Commission and the National Audit Office and intelligence on audit firms’
fees. More than one-third of the value of our annual audit activity is put to competitive tender in the private
sector, following full EU procurement rules. This ensures there is a mixed market for public audit provision in
Scotland and enables us to set fees at the correct level and contain the overall costs.

Accountability
Audit Scotland is held to account through statutory arrangements put in place by the Scotland Act and by the
Parliament through the Public Finance and Accountability Act. The Scottish Commission for Public Audit
(SCPA) is central to these arrangements. The SCPA scrutinises our budget and Annual Report and appoints an
external firm, Haines Watts, to audit our accounts.
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Accountability (continued)
We carry out quality and Best Value reviews internally. Also, an external firm of accountants performs a
programme of internal auditing of all our activities. This internal audit programme is set by, and reports to, the
Audit Scotland board’s Audit Committee. The committee also receives regular reports on Audit Scotland’s risk
management process.

Developing people
Audit Scotland employs about 300 people in offices in Aberdeen, East Kilbride, Edinburgh and Inverness. In
2005/06 we introduced a new learning and development strategy, which sets out our commitment to the
development of our employees. It involves leadership and management development, as well as a wide range of
personal and professional development opportunities for staff at all levels.
We revised our personal development system (PDS) to make it more streamlined and more focused on
meaningful discussion between individuals and their line managers.

Developing processes
We delivered a service review of our facilities and administrative management functions, which resulted in
taking a more corporate approach to the management of our estate. We also developed and implemented an
environmental policy, and gave all staff the opportunity to contribute to this. The policy included setting out and
committing to a range of sustainability targets to reduce our impact on the environment.
We have also reviewed our approach to records management and will be implementing a new electronic
document and records management system in 2007.

Diversity
We introduced the Diversity Excellence Model into Audit Scotland in 2005/06. We have assessed our current
practice against its framework and developed a plan for making diversity an intrinsic part of our work.

Correspondence, complaints and Freedom of Information
In 2005/06, Audit Scotland received 210 items of correspondence (193 in 2004/05) raising issues about the
organisations that we audit. We investigate where we assess that there may be an audit issue.
The nature and complexity of complaints varied widely. In examining them, Audit Scotland focused on whether
audited bodies had incurred expenditure in accordance with their statutory powers, and whether they had taken
steps to deliver financial probity and make best use of resources.
During 2005/06 Audit Scotland met its target of acknowledging correspondence within ten working days in
95% of cases; and in 78% of cases we met our target of providing a full response within one month of the date
of acknowledgement. This compares with 98% and 80% respectively in 2004/05.
Audit Scotland welcomed the introduction of the Freedom of Information legislation in 2004/05 and we are
committed to its successful implementation. We provide a wide range of information in response to requests
every day. We proactively publish the results of our work and issue press releases. Also, a wide range of
information is available through our publication scheme.
We keep a log of the requests that are less straightforward to deal with and have a formal process, agreed by
Audit Scotland’s board, for how to treat such enquiries. In 2005/06 we logged nine such Freedom of
Information requests.
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The Audit Scotland Board and Management Team
Who we are
Audit Scotland Board
Audit Scotland provides services to the Auditor General and the Accounts Commission to enable them to carry
out their duties. Its work is overseen by a board which meets around six times a year to consider plans and
strategic direction. The board is chaired by Alastair MacNish. Bill Magee is Secretary to both the Accounts
Commission and the Audit Scotland Board, and is also responsible for legal and procedural advice. The board
has Audit and Remuneration Committees reporting to it.
The board comprises:
Alastair MacNish
Chair, Accounts Commission
Robert W Black
Auditor General and Accountable Officer
Phil Taylor
Independent Non-executive member
Caroline Gardner
Deputy Auditor General and Controller of Audit
John Baillie
Member of Accounts Commission
In addition, Managing Director of Audit Services Hugh Hall acts as adviser to the Board

Management Team
The Management Team is responsible for the day-to-day running of the business. The Auditor General is Audit
Scotland’s Accountable Officer and leads the Management Team, which also includes Caroline Gardner, Hugh
Hall, Russell Frith (Director of Audit Strategy), and Diane McGiffen (Director of Corporate Services).
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The Audit Scotland Management Team
Caroline Gardner
Deputy Auditor General and Controller of Audit
Caroline works with the directors of performance audit on performance studies of public sector organisations
and audits of Best Value in councils. She oversees the overview reports on health, local government and central
government. Caroline also manages investigations into issues of public concern.
Hugh Hall
Managing Director of Audit Services
Hugh leads the audit services group. They carry out or manage the audits of more than 100 public sector bodies
in Scotland. Hugh works with the directors of audit to encourage and support performance improvements and
higher standards of accountability in the public sector.
Russell Frith
Director of Audit Strategy
Russell is responsible for procurement and resources, auditing and accounting standards, technical support and
quality assurance.
Diane McGiffen
Director of Corporate Services
Diane manages the development of Audit Scotland as an organisation. She leads on business planning and
performance reporting and heads up the following services: human resources and training, information
technology, finance, administration, and communications.

Our sector teams
Local government
As director of performance audit David Pia reports on themes and issues within local authorities, police boards
and fire boards. David’s team also produces overview reports, performance studies and Best Value audits of
local government. Typical reports include Overview of the local authority audits and Following the Public
Pound.
Audit services director Gavin Stevenson manages the in-house audit service we provide to local authorities,
police boards and fire boards, examining their individual performance. His work includes financial statements,
governance and performance management matters.

Health and Community Care
Director of performance audit Barbara Hurst is responsible for investigating issues of public concern, and
producing overview reports and performance studies. Typical reports include Overview of the performance of
the NHS in Scotland 2004/05 and Tackling waiting times in the NHS in Scotland.
Audit services director Lynn Bradley is responsible for the in-house audit services we provide to the health
sector, including the audit of financial statements, governance and performance management matters.
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Our sector teams (continued)
Central Government
In 2005/06, Arwel Roberts directed the Central government team, leading both the performance audit and audit
services work for the sector. The Central government team covers departments of the Scottish Executive,
national public sector organisations such as Historic Scotland and Scottish Water, and further education
colleges.
The performance audit team is responsible for investigating matters of public concern, overview reports and
performance studies. Typical reports include Overview of the water industry in Scotland and Performance
management in Scottish Enterprise.
The audit services team is responsible for auditing financial statements, governance and performance
management matters.
We have recently streamlined our arrangements for managing the Central government and Health and
community care teams, following the retirement of Arwel Roberts. Barbara Hurst now directs the performance
audit teams for both sectors, and Hugh Hall oversees the team providing audit services to the Central
government sector.
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Performance Indicators
We have set a number of indicators to help assess our performance. The indicators, which are set
out below, are arranged in accordance with the corporate priorities set out in the Corporate Plan.

Supporting effective democratic scrutiny
Performance indicator

Outcome

No. of performance audit
reports published

16 performance audit reports were published*
(17 in 2004/05*)

Response times for
correspondence from
members of the public
concerning potential audit
issues

* this number does not include Best Value or Statutory
Performance Indicator reports.
In 2005/06, 187 items of correspondence were received.
95% were acknowledged on time. In 2004/05, 193 items
were received and 98% were acknowledged on time.
86% were responded to in full within one month of being
acknowledged (80% in 2004/05).

Maximising the value of the audit
Performance indicator

Outcome

Percentage of audits delivered
against statutory or Accounts
Commission timescale for
each sector

98% of audits were completed on time (98% in 2004/05).

Percentage of audit plans
submitted and fees agreed
within specified timescales

By Sector:
Health
Central government
Further Education
Local authorities
Other LA audits

100%
100%
100%
97%
94%

97% of audit plans submitted to Audit Scotland within specified
timescales (78% for 2004/05).
72% of fees agreed within specified timescales (37% for
2004/05).
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Performance Indicators (continued)
Building an effective and efficient organisation
Performance indicator

Outcome

Percentage of invoices paid
iwithin 30 days
Sickness absence

96% were paid within the target time (94% in 2004/05).

Staff turnover

Sickness levels were, on average, 4 days per employee.
Average days lost per employee/annum in public services 10.3
days. Source: CIPD Absence Management Survey 2005
Starters: 35
Leavers: 20
(13 people left in 2004/05)
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Remuneration Committee
The remuneration of senior managers is determined by Audit Scotland’s Remuneration Committee. The
membership and remit of the Committee are set out in Standing Orders as follows:

The Remuneration Committee will consist of a member or members of the Board who are not employees of Audit
Scotland. The Board may appoint persons who are not members of the Board to be members of or advisers to the
Remuneration Committee, and may pay them such remuneration and expenses as the Board decides.
The purposes of the Remuneration Committee are
To keep under review and make recommendations to the Board on
•
•
•

Arrangements for the fixing of levels of remuneration and conditions of service for all employees of Audit
Scotland
General adjustments to remuneration and conditions of service affecting all employees
Fixing of annual salary and other conditions of service of the Deputy Auditor General, the Managing
Director of Audit Services, Secretary, Directors and Assistant Directors.

The members of the Remuneration Committee during the year were:
•
•
•

Chairman – P Taylor
Member – A MacNish
Member – R Black

In setting salary levels the Remuneration Committee has regard to the following considerations:
•
•
•
•
•

the need to recruit, retain and motivate suitably able and qualified people to exercise their different
responsibilities;
regional/local variations in labour markets and their effects on the recruitment and retention of staff;
Government policies for improving the public services including the requirement to meet the output
targets for the delivery of services;
the funds available subject to any expenditure limits;
Other relevant Government policies or targets.

The Committee takes account of the evidence it receives about wider economic considerations and the
affordability of its recommendations.

Audit Scotland Board
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Under the provisions of schedule 2 of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) 2000 Act the Auditor
General, the Chairman of the Accounts Commission and any employee of Audit Scotland or member of the
Accounts Commission are not entitled to any remuneration in respect of their membership of the Audit Scotland
Board. The remuneration of the independent member of the Board fell within the band £5,000 to £10,000.

Senior Management
The salaries paid (including any overtime and bonus payable, but excluding employer’s superannuation and
national insurance contributions), pension entitlements (including the annual increase in real terms) and benefits
in kind of the most senior managers of Audit Scotland during the year ended 31 March 2006 were in the bands
shown as follows:

Salary Note(i)

R
Black

C
Gardner

H
Hall

R
Frith

D
McGiffen

Auditor
General

Depute
Auditor
General

Managing
Director of
Audit
Services

Director of
Audit
Strategy

Director of
Corporate
Services

115 - 120

85 - 90

85 - 90

90 - 95

80 - 85

70 - 75

2005~06

£000

130 - 135

115 - 120

2004~05

£000

125 - 130

105 - 110

Note (iv)

2005~06

£

-

-

-

-

3,300

2004~05

£

-

-

-

-

3,100

Real increase in value of accrued pension

£000

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

2.5 - 5.0

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

Value of total accrued pension as at
31 March 2006

£000

25 - 30

25 - 30

35 - 40

10 - 15

10 - 15

Lump Sum

£000

See Note 3c

80 - 85

110 - 115

35 - 40

40 - 45

Cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) as at
31 March 2005

£000

See Note 3c

299

451

153

144

Cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) as at
31 March 2006

£000

See Note 3c

333

538

217

174

Real increase in CETV Note (iii)

£000

-

28

81

24

25

Estimated value of benefits in kind Note (ii)

Notes
(i)

Salary, for those joining or leaving the Management Team, relates to the amounts earned from the date of
joining or to the date of leaving.
(ii) The estimated value of benefits in kind relates to the provision of vehicles. Values to the nearest £100.
(iii) This is calculated after adjustment for inflation and changes in market investment factors.
(iv) From 10 May 2004

Senior Management (continued)
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Further information on the pensions payable to Audit Scotland staff, including the senior management, can be
found in Audit Scotland’s Annual Accounts (see Note 3).

Service Contracts
Unless otherwise stated below the senior managers hold appointments which are open-ended until they reach
normal retirement age. Early termination, other than through misconduct, would result in the individual receiving
compensation.
The Auditor General for Scotland is not an employee of Audit Scotland but is a Crown appointment following
nomination by Parliament. His salary is determined by the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body. The Auditor
General retains office until retirement at age 65, or a later date if determined by Parliamentary resolution.

Accounts Commission
Members of the Accounts Commission are not employed by Audit Scotland and details of their remuneration is
not required under the policy outlined in the Financial Reporting Manual. The following information is included
for information and to assist the reader of the report.
The average number of Members of the Commission throughout the period was 12 and their remuneration was as
follows:
Remuneration Banding
£000
Chairman - Mr A MacNish
Depute Chair
Commission Members

25-30
10-15
0-10

R W Black
Auditor General
Accountable Officer
23 June 2006
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Statutory Background
Audit Scotland was formed on 1 February 2000 (and commenced operations on 1 April 2000), following the
transfer of staff and property from the Accounts Commission and National Audit Office, under the Public Finance
and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. Part 2 of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000
established Audit Scotland as a corporate body.
Basis of Accounts
These are the accounts of Audit Scotland for the year ended 31 March 2006. The accounts have been prepared in
compliance with a direction given by the Scottish Ministers in accordance with section 19(4) of the Public Finance
and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000.
Sources of Funding
Audit Scotland may, under Part 2 of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000, make reasonable
charges to audited bodies in respect of the exercise of its functions. Audit Scotland must seek to ensure that,
taking one year with another, its charges for certain types of work are broadly equivalent to its expenditure. Any
expenditure not met from charges is payable out of the Scottish Consolidated Fund.
Post Balance Sheet Events
There were no important events occurring after the year-end which fall under the definition of a post balance sheet
event.
Pensions and Early Departure Costs
Details about the organisation’s pension and early retirement costs are included in the notes to these accounts.
Board and Management
Details of the Board and Management Team are in the Management Commentary and the Remuneration Report.
Staff relations and Equal Opportunities
Audit Scotland is committed to ensuring that recruitment and management of employees is carried out on merit on
the basis of equal opportunity for all. Full and fair consideration is given to applications for employment from
disabled persons where they have the skills and abilities to perform the job.
Audit Scotland recognises the importance of good industrial relations and effective communication with all its
staff. Regular meetings are held with staff representatives to discuss matters of mutual interest.
Payment to Suppliers
In line with CBI Prompt Payment Code Audit Scotland has a policy to pay all invoices not in dispute in 30 days or
the agreed contractual terms if otherwise specified: 96% (2005 – 94%) of all invoices for the year were paid on or
before the due date.
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Auditors
Accounts prepared by Audit Scotland must, under section 19 of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland)
Act 2000, be sent to the Scottish Commission for Public Audit (SCPA) for auditing. The SCPA appointed Haines
Watts, as auditors to Audit Scotland for a three-year period commencing March 2006.
So far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which Audit Scotland’s auditors are unaware, and I
have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that Audit Scotland’s auditors are aware of that information.

R W Black
Auditor General
Accountable Officer
23 June 2006
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Statement of
Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities

Under section 19(4) of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 Audit Scotland is required to
prepare resource accounts for each financial year, in conformity with the direction of the Scottish Ministers,
detailing the resources acquired, held, or disposed of during the year and the use of resources by Audit Scotland
during the year.
The resource accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
Audit Scotland, the net resource outturn, resources applied to objectives, recognised gains and losses and cash
flows for the financial year.
The Scottish Commission for Public Audit has appointed the Auditor General for Scotland as Accountable Officer
for Audit Scotland with responsibility for preparing the accounts of Audit Scotland and for submitting them for
audit to the Scottish Commission for Public Audit.
In preparing the accounts the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the Financial Reporting Manual
(FReM) and in particular to:
•

observe the accounts direction including the relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply
suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;

•

make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

•

state whether applicable accounting standards, as set out in the FReM, have been followed; and disclose
and explain any material departures in the accounts;

•

prepare accounts on a going concern basis.

The responsibilities of the Accountable Officer, including responsibility for the propriety and regularity of the
public finances for which an Accountable Officer is answerable, for keeping proper records and for safeguarding
assets, are set out in the “Accountable Officer’s Memorandum”.
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Statement on
The System of Internal Control

This statement is given in respect of the resource account for Audit Scotland. As Accountable Officer I have
responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control which supports the achievement of Audit
Scotland’s policies, aims and objectives whilst safeguarding public funds and Audit Scotland’s assets for which I
am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities as set out in the “Accountable Officer’s
Memorandum”.
The system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve policies,
aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. No
significant weaknesses have been identified.
The system of internal control is based on a continuing process designed to identify the principal risks to the
achievement of Audit Scotland’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the nature and extent of those risks and
to manage them effectively and economically. This process was in place throughout the year to 31 March 2006
and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts.
As Accountable Officer, I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control.
Audit Scotland has established the following processes:
•

a Board that meets regularly to consider the plans and strategic direction of Audit Scotland (the
Board comprises senior members of the organisation, the Auditor General, the Chairman of the
Accounts Commission and two non-executive members);

•

an audit committee and a remuneration committee;

•

a corporate risk strategy, and a risk register that is reviewed every six months;

•

Chiene and Tait were appointed internal auditors in October 2001 and report independently on the
adequacy and effectiveness of Audit Scotland’s system of internal control together with
recommendations for improvement. Their internal audit plan is constructed on a risk-based approach;

•

regular reports from managers on the steps they are taking to manage risks in their areas of
responsibility including progress reports on key projects;

•

facilitated workshops for risk awareness training and to identify the risks facing the organisation;

•

establishment and development of key performance and risk indicators.

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors
and of executive managers within Audit Scotland who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of
the internal control framework, and by comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and
other reports.

R W Black
Accountable Officer
23 June 2006
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Schedule 1

Summary of Resource Outturn
Year ended 31 March 2006

N e t Total Cos ts

2006
E stimate
£000

2006
Actual
£000

2 005
Actual
£000

(6,474)

(4,696)

(8,310)

7,932

6,750

2006
£000

2005
£000

4,696
142

8,310
369

4,838

8,679

N e t Cas h R e quire me nt (see below )

R e conciliation of re s ource s to N e t Cas h R e quire me nt
Note

N et O perating C ost (S ch ed u le 2 )
C apital: Purchase of fixed assets

7

Adjus tme nts
N on cash items:
- Depreciation
- N otional interest on capital
- Pension scheme - net revenue credit/(charge)
- M ovement in net pension liabilities
O pening net debtors/creditors
C losing net debtors/creditors
C reditor due to C onsolidated Fund

4
4

9

N e t Cas h R e quire me nt (S ch ed u le 4 )
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(361)
16
728
(11,083)
11,640
1,700
454

(298)
35
(607)
584
9,669
(11,640)
328

3,094

(1,929)

7,932

6,750

Schedule 2

Operating Cost Statement
Year ended 31 March 2006
Note

2006
£000

2005
£000

Adminis tration Cos ts
Staff costs
O ther administration costs

2
4

Gros s adminis tration cos ts
O perating income
O ther finance income

5
6

N ET OPER ATIN G COST

(13,586)
(11,129)

(13,058)
(11,854)

(24,715)

(24,912)

20,278
(259)

16,670
(68)

(4,696)

(8,310)

2006
£000

2005
£000

6,095

726

1,479

7

Statement of recognise d gains and losses (SRGL)
Note

Actuarial gain/(los s ) re cognis e d

Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets
Experience gains/(losses) arising on pension scheme liabilities
C hanges in financial assumptions underlying the present value
of the pension scheme liabilities
Total gains re cognis e d s ince las t annual re port

2,798
3
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10,372

(710)
23

Schedule 3

Balance Sheet
As at 31 March 2006

2006
£000

2005
£000

7

550

770

8

7,076
454

1, 477
328

7,530

1, 805

6,171

2, 956

N e t Curre nt As s e ts /(Liabilitie s )

1,359

(1,151)

Total as s e ts le s s curre nt liabilitie s

1,909

(381)

Note

Fixe d As s e ts
Tangible assets
Curre nt As s e ts
Debtors
C ash at bank and in hand

Cre ditors
Amounts falling due within one year

9

Deferred liabilities
Provision for early retirement
N et funded pension asset/(liability)

(64)
(1,320)
2,180

(94)
(1,164)
(8,903)

2,705

(10,542)

12

2,180
525

(8,903)
(1,639)

16

2,705

(10,542)

10
11
3

N ET ASSETS/(LIAB ILITIES)

Represented by:
TAXPAYER S’ EQUITY
N et funded pension asset/(liability)
General Fund

3

R W Black
Auditor General
Accountable Officer
23 June 2006
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Cash Flow Statement
Year ended 31 March 2006

Note

2006
£000

2005
£000

N et cash outflow from operating activities

( n o te a )

(7,790)

(6,381)

C apital expenditure and financial investment

( n o te b )

(142)

(369)

Financing from the C onsolidated Fund (supply)

( n o te c)

Incre as e /(D e cre as e ) in cas h in the pe riod

8,058

6, 164

126

(586)

2006

2005

N otes to the C ash F low Statement
£000

£000

(4,696)

(8,310)

361
(16)
(728)
(5,599)
3,342
(454)

298
(35)
607
4,874
(3,487)
(328)

(7 ,7 9 0 )

(6 ,3 8 1 )

(1 4 2 )

(3 6 9 )

328
7,730

914
5,250

8 ,0 5 8

6 ,1 6 4

a) R e co nciliatio n o f o pe rating co s t to o pe rating cas h flo ws
N et operating cost (S ch ed u le 2 )
Ad j u stmen t f o r n o n -ca sh items:
- D epreciation
- N otional interest on capital
- P ension scheme - net revenue (credit)/charge
(Increase)/D ecrease in debtors
Increase/(D ecrease) in creditors
A djustment for cash balance due to Consolidated Fund

7

9

N e t cas h o utflo w fro m o pe rating activ itie s

b) C apital e x pe nditure and financial inv e s tme nt
7

P urchase of fixed assets

c) A nalys is o f financing
O pening Cash balance payable to the Consolidated Fund
From Consolidated Fund (Supply)
Financing fro m the C o ns o lidate d Fund (s upply)
(Increase)/D ecrease in cash

(126)

N e t cas h re quire me nt (S ch ed u le 1 )

7 ,9 3 2
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586
6 ,7 5 0

Schedule 5

Resources by Departmental Aims and Objectives
for the year ended 31 March 2006

Aim: To provide high quality support to the Auditor General and the Accounts Commission

Gros s
Expe nditure
£000

N e t Ope rating Cos t

Net
Income Expe nditure
£000
£000

2006 Actual

24,715

20,019

4,696

2005 Actual

24,912

16,602

8,310
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Annual Report and Accounts 2005-06
Notes to the Accounts

1: Statement of Accounting Policies
The Accounts have been prepared in accordance with the accounts direction issued by Scottish Ministers under
section 19(4) of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and also in accordance with the
Financial Reporting Manual applicable for the year. The particular accounting policies adopted by Audit
Scotland are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material
in relation to the accounts.
a) Basis of accounting
The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention. In accordance with the principles of
resource accounting, the gross funding received from the Scottish Consolidated Fund is recorded directly
within the General Fund (note 12) and therefore is not included in the operating income received in the year in
Schedule 2.
b) Tangible fixed assets
All property occupied by Audit Scotland is leasehold. The minimum level of capitalisation of a tangible fixed
asset is £5,000 for individual or group purchases.
c) Depreciation
Depreciation has been provided at a rate calculated to write off cost in equal annual instalments over the
estimated useful lives of assets. Asset lives are normally written off as follows:
Leasehold premises
Furniture and fittings
Computer equipment

life of lease
5 years
3~4 years

d) Amortisation of rent-free periods
Rent-free periods on leases of premises are amortised over the period of the lease, or over the period until the
first rent review, as appropriate.
e) Operating income
Operating income is income that relates directly to the operating activities of Audit Scotland. It principally
comprises fees and charges for services provided on a full cost basis to audited bodies. Payments received on
account of work in progress in excess of or below the value of carrying out the relevant work are included in
creditors or debtors as appropriate.
f) Cost of capital charge
A non-cash capital charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by Audit Scotland, is included in the operating
statement. The charge is calculated on the average value of fixed assets and working capital held during the
year at the Government’s standard interest rate of 3.5% per annum.
g) Operating leases
The total cost of operating leases is charged to revenue in equal instalments over the life of the lease.
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Annual Report and Accounts 2005-06
Notes to the Accounts (continued)

1: Statement of Accounting Policies (continued)
h) Pension arrangements
Audit Scotland has complied fully with the requirements of FRS 17 for the year ended 31 March 2006. Audit
Scotland makes pension provision for present and former employees through three pension schemes. The
Auditor General has benefits provided through a scheme by analogy to the Local Government Pension scheme.
Employees joining Audit Scotland after 1 April 2000 and those transferring to Audit Scotland from the
Accounts Commission have benefits provided through the Local Government scheme.
Employees transferring to Audit Scotland at 1 April 2000 from the NAO are covered by the provisions of the
Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme.

2: Staff Costs and Numbers
Staff costs comprise:

2006

2005

£000

£000

10,647
922
1,873
291
(275)

9,555
806
1,482
132
977

Ad m inistra tive Sta ff
Salaries
N ational Insurance
Superannuation
P rovision for early retirement costs
A djustment for retirement benefit scheme costs (see b elo w)

1 3 ,4 5 8

1 2 ,9 5 2

112
7
9

92
3
11

128

106

1 3 ,5 8 6

1 3 ,0 5 8

Accounts Com m ission M em bers
Salaries
N ational Insurance
Travel and subsistence

Provision for early retirement costs for 2005 have been restated as a result of re-classifying the amounts
required to increase the provision, as advised by the actuary, and other early retirement costs previously
contained within Other costs shown in note 4.
The average number of directly employed staff during the period was 279 (2005 – 274). The average full
time equivalent number for agency staff used during the period was 14 (2005 – 20).
Ana lysis of loca l g overnm ent retirem ent benefit schem e costs:

2006

2005

Current service costs
P ast service costs
Curtailment and settlements

£000
1,749
13
11

£000
1,611
305
705

1,773

2,621

(491)

(411)

Less: Employees’ contributions
C harg e to re v e nue

1 ,2 8 2

2 ,2 1 0

A ctual contributions

(1,557)

(1,233)

(2 7 5 )

A djustment for retirement benefit scheme costs
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Annual Report and Accounts 2005-06
Notes to the Accounts (continued)

3: Pension assets and liabilities
In accordance with Financial Reporting Standard No 17 Retirement benefits (FRS 17) Audit Scotland is
required to disclose certain information concerning assets, liabilities, income and expenditure related to
pension schemes for its employees. Audit Scotland operates two main pension schemes; the Local Government
Scheme, administered by the Lothian Pension Fund, and the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme, or
PCSPS. Audit Scotland is not required to record information related to the PCSPS scheme as the liability for
payment of pension rests with the Scottish Executive. In addition, Audit Scotland operates a “by analogy”
scheme outside the two main schemes.
a) Local government scheme
Audit Scotland has an agreement with City of Edinburgh Council under which all staff are eligible to enter
the Lothian Pension Fund (the name of the Local Government Superannuation Scheme managed by the
Council) in accordance with its rules. It is a defined benefit scheme providing pension benefits and life
assurance for all permanent staff.
The following valuations have been provided by Hymans Robertson, the independent actuaries to Lothian
Pension Fund. The financial assumptions used for the purposes of their FRS 17 calculations as at 31 March
2006 were as follows:
2006

2005

3.1%
4.6%
3.1%
6.0%

2.9%
4.4%
2.9%
5.4%

£000
39,140
(36,960)

£000
24,247
(33,150)

N e t Funde d A s s e ts /(Liabilitie s )

2 ,1 8 0

(8 ,9 0 3 )

U nfunded liabilities – early retirement provision

(1,320)

(1,164)

P rice increases
Salary increases
P ension increases
D iscount rate
A udit Scotland’s estimated assets and liabilities in Lothian P ension Fund amounted to:
A ssets (see below )
Liabilities

N e t Funde d A s s e ts /(Liabilitie s )

860

(1 0 ,0 6 7 )

Assets are valued at fair value, principally market value for investments, and consist of:
Long Term Return
at 31 March 2006
% per annum
Equities
Property
Bonds
Cash
Estimated employer assets

Assets at
31-Mar-06
£000

Long Term Return
at 31 March 2005
% per annum

Assets at
31-Mar-05
£000

7.4%
5.5%
4.6%
4.6%

32,070
4,180
2,310
580

7.7%
5.7%
4.8%
4.8%

19,323
2,319
1,624
981

7.0%

39,140

7.2%

24,247

Total value of liabilities
Net Pension Surplus/(Deficit)
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3: Pension assets and liabilities (continued)
Liabilities are valued on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, which assesses the future
liabilities of the fund discounted at their present value. The valuations are based on a valuation as of 31
March 2006 by Hymans Robertson.
The movement in the funded part of the net pension liability for the year to 31 March 2006 is as follows:

Opening net pensions liability at 1 April
Current Service cost
Employer and employee contributions
Past service costs
Impact of settlements and curtailments
Net return on assets

2006

2005

£000

£000

(8,903)

(8,319)

(1,749)

(1,611)

2,824

1,673

(13)

(348)

(158)

(253)

(193)

(68)

Actuarial gain

10,372

23

Closing Net Pension Assets/(Liabilities) at 31 March

2,180

(8,903)

2006

2005

£000
6,095
39,140

£000
726
24,247

15.6%

3.0%

1,479
36,960

7
33,150

4.0%

0.0%

10,372
36,960

23
33,150

28.1%

0.1%

History of Experience Gains and Losses

Difference between the expected and actual return on assets
Value of assets
Percentage of assets
Experience gains/(losses) on funded liabilities
Total present value of liabilities
Percentage of the total present value of funded liabilities
Actuarial gains/(losses) recognised in SRGL
Total present value of funded liabilities
Percentage of the total present value of funded liabilities

During the year ended 31 March 2006, Audit Scotland’s contribution to the pension fund represented
18.9% (2005 – 18.0%) of contributing employees’ pensionable pay. Under Superannuation Regulations
contribution rates are set to meet 100% of the overall liabilities of the Fund. In their valuation as of
December 2005, Hymans Robertson recommended employers’ contributions of 15.8% for the next three
years, commencing in 2006 – 07.
The significant movement from net liabilities to net assets in the local government scheme is due to a
combination of high returns on equities during the year and an increase in the discount rate, a result of
implementing the new Financial Reporting Manual requiring Audit Scotland to adopt the specified real
discount rate of 2.8%.
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3: Pension assets and liabilities (continued)
b) PCSP Scheme
Employees of the NAO transferring to Audit Scotland on 1 April 2000 have pension benefits provided
through the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS). Audit Scotland makes payments of
superannuation contributions to PCSPS at rates set by the Government Actuary.
The PCSPS is an unfunded multi-employer defined benefit scheme, however Audit Scotland is unable to
identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities. A full actuarial valuation was carried out at 31
March 2003. Total liabilities at 31 March 2005 were estimated at £84.1 billion. Further details may be
found in the separate scheme statement of the PCSPS (www.civilservice-pensions.gov.uk).
During the year ended 31 March 2006, Audit Scotland paid an employer's contribution of £304k (2005 £223k) into the PCSP scheme at rates between 16.2% and 24.6% of pensionable pay (2005 – 12% to
18.5%). Audit Scotland has been informed that contributions will increase from April 2006 to between 17.1
% and 25.5%. Employer contribution rates are reviewed every three years following a scheme valuation by
the Government Actuary. The contribution rates reflect benefits as they are accrued, not when costs are
actually incurred, and they reflect past experience of the scheme.

c) By analogy scheme
Mr R W Black has benefits provided by analogy to the Local Government pension scheme. Contributions
are paid to the Scottish Consolidated Fund. During the year ended 31 March 2006, Audit Scotland paid an
Employer’s contribution of £30.8k (2005 - £23.0k) into this scheme. No information is available regarding
cash equivalent transfer values or lump sum benefits.
Early Departure Costs
Certain costs arising from the early retirement of staff are payable by Audit Scotland. These relate mainly
to the granting of compensatory added years and early payment of pensions, which employers must make to
the pension fund.
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4: Administration Costs
£000

2006

2005

£000

£000

Fees and Expenses to appointed audit firms:
Local authorities
National Health Service
Water
Further education
Scottish Executive and sponsored bodies

3,075
1,811
167
427
472

2,835
1,849
148
388
455
5,952

5,675

Other Costs:
Rent and rates
Other accommodation costs
Travel and subsistence
Legal and other professional fees
Stationery and printing
Training
Staff recruitment
Communications (telephone, postage)
Insurance
Information technology
Audit fees: Internal
Audit fees: External
Other
VAT on revenue expenditure (see below)
Non-cash items: Depreciation
Notional interest on capital

945
464
851
813
375
433
71
103
172
424
22
33
126
0
361
(16)

789
407
743
1,055
359
482
399
135
135
415
26
31
49
891
298
(35)
5,177

6,179

11,129

11,854

Rent and rates includes £696k in respect of property leases (see note 13).

Value Added Tax
During the year ended 31 March 2004 HM Customs & Excise confirmed its view of Audit Scotland’s VAT
position that all VAT expense is irrecoverable.
Up to 31 October 2004 input VAT was recorded as a separate expense and met through funding from the
Scottish Consolidated Fund. From 1 November input VAT has been included in the individual costs and
recovered through charges to audited bodies. Accordingly the detailed analyses of Administration Costs are
not directly comparable between years.
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5: Operating Income

Fees and charges payable:
- by Local Authorities
- by National Health Service bodies in Scotland
- by Water bodies
- by Further Education Colleges
- by Scottish Executive and sponsored bodies

Bank Interest
Rent from External Tenants
Miscellaneous Income

2006

2005

£000

£000

13,229
4,402
169
553
1,590

9,619
4,293
201
605
1,591

19,943

16,309

145
0
190

134
10
217

20,278

16,670

2006

2005

£000

£000

1,803
(2,062)

1,583
(1,651)

(259)

(68)

6: Other finance income

Expected return on local government pension scheme assets
Interest on pension scheme liabilities
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7: Fixed Assets
Le as e ho ld
Furniture
pre mis e s and fitting s
Cost

C o mpute r
e quipme nt

To tal

£000
1,367
99
(407)

£000
2 ,0 8 8
142
(4 0 7 )

1 ,0 5 9

1 ,8 2 3

£000
367
43

£000
354
0

410

354

161
56

326
11

831
294
(406)

1 ,3 1 8
361
(4 0 6 )

217

337

719

1 ,2 7 3

A t 3 1 M arch 2 0 0 6

193

17

340

550

A t 3 1 M arch 2 0 0 5

206

28

536

770

A t 1 A pril 2005
A dditions
D isposals
A t 3 1 M arch 2 0 0 6
D ep recia tion
A t 1 A pril 2005
Charge for the year
D epreciation on D isposals
A t 3 1 M arch 2 0 0 6
N et Book Va lue

Fixed assets are shown at historical cost. It is the opinion of Audit Scotland that inclusion of fixed assets at
current costs would have no material effect upon the financial position of Audit Scotland.

8: Debtors
£000
Trade debtors:
other central government bodies
local authorities
NHS bodies
public corporations
bodies external to government

2006

2005

£000

£000

526
4,095
1,473
63
291

Work in progress
Prepayments
Ombudsman
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6,448
100
528
0

53
918
505
1

7,076

1,477
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9: Creditors
£000
Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade creditors:
Local Authorities
NHS bodies
Bodies external to government

2006

2005

£000

£000

43
10
267

Cash balance payable to Consolidated fund
Deferred income
Other taxes and social security costs
Superannuation
Accruals
Rent free period on premises – current liability (Note 10)

140

320
454
5,036
0
8
323
30

366
506
328
1,103
265
175
549
30

6,171

2,956

The cash balance payable to the Consolidated Fund is based on the accounting conventions adopted for
resource-based supply.

10: Deferred Liabilities
Audit Scotland rents premises in various locations in accordance with its operational requirements. During the
year ended 31 March 2003 various leases were negotiated with rent-free periods.

2006

2005

£000

£000

30
93

30
123

123

153

Opening balance at 1 April:
Current
Deferred

Additions
Released during year

(29)

(29)

Closing balance at 31 March

94

124

Whereof:
Current
Deferred

30
64

30
94

94

124
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11: Provision for early retirement
The provision represents the actuarially computed early retirement added years pensions, this being the
estimated future liability of Audit Scotland. The movement during the year was as follows:

Opening balance at 1 April
Additions
Utilised in year
Revaluation

2006

2005

£000

£000

1,164

847

162
(84)
78

Closing balance at 31 March

1,320

253
(68)
132
1,164

12: General Fund
£000
Opening balance at 1 April

2006

2005

£000

£000

(1,639)

Opening Cash balance payable to the Consolidated Fund
Funding received from Consolidated Fund
Closing Cash balance payable to the Consolidated Fund

328
7,730
(454)

263
914
5,250
(328)

Net funding from Scottish Parliament

7,604

5,836

Net Operating Cost
Notional interest on capital
Transfer to net funded pension liabilities
Net return on assets

(4,696)
(16)
(921)
193

(8,310)
(35)
539
68

Closing balance at 31 March

525
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13: Leases
During the period to 31 March 2006 the amounts charged to revenue in respect of operating leases for
premises and equipment were as follows:
2006

P remises (No te 4 )
Equipment

2005

£000

£000

696
431

536
391

1 ,1 2 7

927

The amounts payable in the next financial year in respect of such leases are as follow s:
2006
Pre mis e s Equipme nt
Le as e e x piry
W ithin one year
In tw o to five years
A fter five years

2005
Pre mis e s Equipme nt

£000

£000

£000

£000

5
692

45
323
-

696

58
186
-

697

368

696

244

14: Related Party Transactions
Audit Scotland is a statutory body funded by the Scottish Parliament. The latter is regarded as a related party.
Audit Scotland’s income arises principally from audit fees and charges levied on public sector bodies. During
the period none of Audit Scotland’s management staff has undertaken any material transactions with related
parties.

15: Capital Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
At 31 March 2006 the contracted capital commitments were £24k, payable in 2006/07 upon the completed
implementation of the new finance system. There were no contingent liabilities.
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16: Movement in Taxpayers’ Equity

£000
Opening balance at 1 April

2006

2005

£000

£000

(10,542)

Local government pension scheme - current service cost
Employer and employee contributions
Past service costs
Impact of settlements and curtailments
Net return on assets
Actuarial gains/(losses)
Movement in general fund (Note 12)

Closing balance at 31 March
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(1,749)
2,824
(13)
(158)
(193)
10,372
2,164

(8,056)
(1,611)
1,673
(348)
(253)
(68)
23
(1,902)

13,247

(2,486)

2,705

(10,542)

Direction by the Scottish Ministers

In accordance with section 19(4) of the
Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000

1. The statement of accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 2006 and subsequent years, shall comply
with the accounting principles and disclosure requirements of the edition of the Government Financial
Reporting Manual (FReM) which is in force for the year for which the statement of accounts are prepared.

2. The accounts shall be prepared so as to give a true and fair view of the net resource outturn, resources applied
to objectives, recognized gains and losses and cash flows for the financial year, and of the state of affairs as at
the end of the financial year.

3. This direction shall be reproduced as an appendix to the statement of accounts. The direction given on 25
April 2001 is hereby revoked.

Signed by the authority of the Scottish Ministers
17 January 2006
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Scottish Commission for Public Audit

(Under section 25(3) of The Public Finance Accountability
(Scotland) Act 2000)
AUDIT SCOTLAND
We have audited the organisation’s accounts for the year ended 31 March 2006, which comprise the Summary of
Resource Outturn, Operating Cost Statement, Statement of Recognised Gains and Losses, Balance Sheet, Cash
Flow Statement, Resources by Departmental Aims and Objectives and the related notes 1 to 16. We have also
audited the relevant disclosures in the Remuneration Report as required under the direction of the Scottish
Ministers. These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and the accounting
policies set out therein.
This report is made solely to the Scottish Commission for Public Audit, as a body, in accordance with Section
22(1) (a) and (b) of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Scottish Commission for Public Audit those matters we are required to
state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Scottish Commission for Public Audit as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of Audit Scotland and auditors
As described in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, Audit Scotland is responsible for the
preparation of the accounts in conformity with the direction of the Scottish Ministers. The Accountable Officer is
responsible for the propriety and regularity of the public finances, for keeping proper books and for safeguarding
assets, as set out in the Accountable Officer’s Memorandum.
Our responsibility is to audit the accounts in accordance with the terms of our appointment, relevant legal and
regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
We report to you on the matters set out in section 22(1)(a) and (b) of the Public Finance and Accountability
(Scotland) Act 2000 and our opinion as to whether the Resource Accounts give a true and fair view and are
properly prepared in accordance with section 19(4) of that Act. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the
Foreword and the Management Commentary are not consistent with the accounts, if the organisation has not kept
proper accounting records, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our
audit, or if information specified by the Scottish Ministers regarding the remuneration and other transactions is not
disclosed.
We read the other information contained in the Statement on the System of Internal Control, and consider whether
it is consistent with the audited accounts. As auditors we are not required to consider whether the Accountable
Officer’s statement on internal controls covers all risks and controls, nor are we required to form an opinion on
the effectiveness of the risk and control procedures. We consider the implications for our report if we become
aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the accounts. Our responsibilities do not
extend to any other information.
Basis of opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements
made by the Board in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to Audit Scotland’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements
are free from material misstatement whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion
we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the accounts.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Scottish Commission for Public Audit

(Under section 25(3) of The Public Finance Accountability
(Scotland) Act 2000)
Opinion
In our opinion, the accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of Audit Scotland as at 31 March 2006
and of its net resource outturn for the year then ended, have been properly prepared in accordance with section
19(4) of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000, and the expenditure has been incurred and
receipts have been applied in accordance with section 22(1)(a) and (b) of the Public Finance and Accountability
(Scotland) Act 2000.

HAINES WATTS
Chartered Accountants
and Registered Auditors
231/233 St Vincent Street
Glasgow G2 5QY
23 June 2006
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An introduction to Audit Scotland

what we do
Highlights for 2005/06
Audit Scotland delivers the independent audit
of governance, financial stewardship and
performance on behalf of the Auditor General
and Accounts Commission. Audit Scotland
operates under the Public Finance and
Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000.
As the public audit agency for Scotland, Audit
Scotland is at the heart of the governance
and performance of public services. Our aim is

twofold; to hold public bodies to account and
help them improve. We do this by delivering an
independent public audit regime, covering about
200 public bodies in Scotland which spend
more than £27 billion a year. We audit around
110 of these organisations and almost 90 audits
are delivered by private firms on behalf of the
Auditor General and the Accounts Commission.

1. Eight local government Best Value audit reports published
2. Thirty-eight performance audit reports and 196 annual audit
reports produced
3. The National Fraud Initiative carried out across all local
authorities, finding £15 million in overpayments and savings
4. Modernised audit successfully rolled out in the NHS and
piloted in local and central government
5. Integrated overview reports published for the NHS and
local government

Audit
Scotland

Auditor
General

Accounts
Commission

6. Assisted the Auditor General and Accounts Commission
in the procurement process for the next five-year audit
appointments.

Audit Scotland arranges the audit
of about 200 public organisations.

Scottish
ministers

Scottish
Parliament

what we do – page 1 & 2

Welcome to the 2005/06 annual report of Audit Scotland.
We doubled our output of Best Value audits, saw the first
full year of the modernised audit and worked to our three
corporate priorities.

In our 2005-08 Corporate Plan, we published
our three corporate priorities:

• Supporting effective democratic scrutiny
• Maximising the value of the audit

We produced 234 reports in total, including 38 reports
on the performance of services and organisations and
196 annual audit reports to audited bodies.

By the Accountable Officer
and Board Chair

• Building an efficient and effective
organisation
This annual report therefore reports our
progress against these priorities.

Together with the Auditor General and the Accounts Commission,
we help to ensure that the Scottish Executive and other public
sector bodies in Scotland spend public money properly, efficiently
and effectively.
The Auditor General is appointed by the Crown and is
independent. He reports to the Scottish Parliament and oversees
the audits of departments of the Scottish Executive, NHS boards
and special health boards, further education colleges, Scottish
Water and government agencies.

our year
We are delighted to publish the annual report
for 2005/06, which sets out our progress
under each of our three corporate priorities
(listed above). We recognise that there is
always room for improvement in the way
public audit is delivered, and we believe we
have made significant progress in delivering
an audit regime that is valued by audited
bodies, stakeholders and service users.
Our twin aims of holding to account and
helping to improve continue to drive
everything we do. The past year has seen us
make real progress in achieving these goals.
For example, 2005/06 saw the roll out of
our modernised approach to audit, with the
completion of the first full year in health and
pilots in both local and central government.
We will continue to look for improvements
to this new approach but we have been
struck by the positive response from audited
bodies (whom we see as important clients for
this work) and stakeholders. More on
progress in maximising the value of the audit
can be found on pages 13 and 14.
We are particularly encouraged that in this
report we are able to provide some examples of
the good work we have found in public services
in Scotland. Our role gives us the opportunity to
work with many talented and committed public

The Accounts Commission is appointed by Scottish ministers,
is independent of local councils and government and can make
reports and recommendations to Scottish ministers. Scotland’s
32 councils and 35 joint boards are audited by auditors appointed
by the Accounts Commission.

servants and we are grateful to them for their
assistance and support during the year. At times
it is our role to be challenging as well as
supportive, and generally public bodies respond
constructively to this. More information on our
work to support effective democratic scrutiny
can be found on pages 5 to 12.
We continue to strive to keep the cost of audit
down, and our annual expenditure remains less
than 0.1 per cent of total public sector
expenditure in Scotland. We must keep
challenging ourselves to deliver public audit
more efficiently and effectively, responding to
the challenge of best value and minimising the
burden of scrutiny. More on our efforts to
become a more efficient and effective
organisation can be found on pages 15 and 16.
Looking ahead, we have published our
corporate plan for 2006-09 which confirms our
three corporate priorities (the plan is available at
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/audit/corpdocs.htm).
Our focus is on rolling out the modernised audit
and delivering high quality performance audits
for the Auditor General and Accounts
Commission. We will also aim to provide more
support to public bodies in the form of events
such as seminars and specialised one-off
publications, and focus our work more on the
needs of the people who use public services.

Robert W Black
Accountable Officer

Alastair MacNish
Board Chair

our year – page 3 & 4

Our work helps identify where resources can be better
used and whether quality is improving. In 2005/06,
among other things, we reported:

• transferring the ownership of council houses to social
landlords will facilitate £3.2 billion of investment into
homes, while keeping rent increases to one per cent
or less

• Scottish Water has cut its operating costs by a third,
or almost £100 million, in the past three years

• the number of further education colleges operating in
deficit halved, from 18 to nine, between 2002 and 2004.

• nearly half of patients on waiting lists would travel
more than 50 miles to get earlier treatment but only
five per cent are offered this

Supporting effective democratic scrutiny

our work

We have a role in ensuring good governance in Scotland’s public
sector by helping elected and appointed representatives scrutinise
public services. We report in public and give those representatives
independent evidence to enable them to hold public bodies to
account and to help them improve. During 2005/06 we produced
234 reports (246 in 2004/05).
We consult widely on our work programme to ensure we target
the issues that matter. We aim to understand and report on the
experiences of service users and to ensure our reports are clear
and timely. As well as highlighting strengths and areas for
improvement in the public sector, we focus on the key priorities
and risks at the bodies we audit. We enable the Auditor General
and the Accounts Commission to bring matters of governance,
accountability and improvement to the attention of the Scottish
Parliament and ministers.

Reports
The following reports were published during
the year:
2 cross cutting reports
(reports for both the Auditor General and the
Accounts Commission)
6 central government reports
5 NHS reports
8 Best Value reports
(introduced in 2004/05, Best Value audits
are designed to give a rounded picture of a
council’s performance. All 32 councils will be
covered in a rolling three-year programme)
5 other local government reports
(including one Performance Indicators
compendium and one PI profiles report)
12 reports on accounts to
the Scottish Parliament
(Section 22 reports – Auditor General reports
on issues arising from annual audits of public
bodies under his responsibility)
196 annual audit reports to audited bodies
(these are annual summary reports on each
public body. They provide an opinion on
financial management and highlight the main
issues arising from the audit in each body)
5 other publications
(including Corporate Plan 2005-08, two
progress reports on race relations and race
equality legislation, a guide to Audit Scotland
and a Memorandum of Understanding with
NHS Quality Improvement Scotland)

National Fraud Initiative
Details of most of the above reports can be
found in the reports published section on the
following pages 9-12.
All our reports are issued to the relevant audited
bodies and most are sent to other stakeholders
and published on our website. This allows
organisations to share examples of good
practice and act on any recommendations.
Auditor General reports are considered by the
Audit Committee of the Scottish Parliament,
and local government and Best Value reports
are considered by the Accounts Commission.
Our work is widely reported by the media.

The good work we find
During the course of our fieldwork, Audit
Scotland finds many examples of good practice
and achievement at the bodies we examine.
One of the reasons for reporting in public is to
share such practice with the rest of the public
sector. Among the many examples we reported
in 2005/06, were the following:

• By using physiotherapists and GPs with
specialist knowledge, NHS Grampian is
working towards cutting the number of
orthopaedic hospital referrals by 40 per cent,
or 4,000 cases a year. This aims to free
consultants to spend more time performing
operations, in turn further reducing waiting
times (Tackling waiting times in the NHS in
Scotland, 16 February 2006).

• At Dalry Primary School in North Ayrshire
the strong leadership of its head teacher
has directly affected the achievements
and experiences of the children and staff.
HMIE has praised her impact on the
previously struggling school’s progress,
performance and morale (Leadership
development: How government works
series, 17 November 2005).

• West Lothian Council and the former West
Lothian Healthcare NHS Trust set up a joint
health and community care team, with a
rapid response service to reduce the need
for hospital admission or enable earlier
discharges than previously possible. The
team reduced the number of people
waiting for discharges by 60 per cent and
saved 3,200 bed nights during 2003 to
2005 (West Lothian Council: The audit of
Best Value and Community Planning, 30
June 2005).

• The Scottish Executive and Communities
Scotland produced new guidance on the
housing transfers due to complete in 2006
and 2007. The guidance benefits from the
experience gained in earlier transfers.
Improvements to the process mean that
current transfers are expected to take just
over two years on average to complete
(Council housing transfers, 24 March 2006).

Audit Scotland, working with the Audit
Commission in England and Wales, external
auditors and a range of public bodies in
Scotland, facilitated a major anti-fraud initiative
as part of the audits of the 2004/05 financial
year. The exercise, the National Fraud
Initiative, covered all councils, police and fire
boards, the Scottish Public Pensions Agency
and the Student Awards Agency for Scotland.
The exercise used computerised datamatching to compare information about
housing benefit applicants, public sector
employees and pensioners, students and
the deceased, to identify a range of
circumstances that might indicate fraud or
error. These matches were passed to the
audited bodies to investigate and to report
back their findings. Fraud, overpayments and
savings of £15.1 million have been found.
Taking previous pilot exercises into account,
the cumulative fraud and error detected by
the NFI in Scotland amounts to around £23
million. Audit Scotland will carry out the NFI
again in 2006/07, and is working with the
Audit Commission to extend the scope of
the exercise to other areas that have already
proved effective in England and Wales.
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our work (continued)
UK and international
standards setting
Audit Scotland contributes to the
development of accounting and auditing
standards in the UK through membership of
a number of bodies including the Financial
Reporting Advisory Board, the CIPFA/LASAAC
Joint Committee and the Auditing Practices
Board Public Sector Sub-Committee. Audit
Scotland staff participate in many other panels
and working groups that produce detailed
guidance for public sector bodies. Reflecting
the increasing importance of global standards
to the UK public sector, we also contribute to
the international auditing standard setting
process through the work of the INTOSAI
Expert Reference Panel and by responding to
drafts of relevant standards.

Links with other
scrutiny bodies
Audit Scotland and other bodies put a
significant amount of effort into working
together to streamline our scrutiny of public
services. This is achieved primarily through the
Joint Scrutiny Forum and the Inspectorates
Forum, and through bilateral agreements.
In 2005/06, we signed a Memorandum of
Understanding with NHS Quality Improvement
Scotland, similar to an existing memorandum
we have with the Scottish Public Services
Ombudsman. These set out each body’s

International
development work
powers and responsibilities, and arrangements
for joining up audit and review in public
bodies. We also have a track record of joint
work with inspectorates and other bodies,
such as our joint inspections of education
authorities with HM Inspectorate of Education,
and joint studies with HMIE, HM Inspectorate
of Constabulary, and NHS QIS.

Links with other
audit agencies
Audit Scotland is in regular contact with the
other public audit agencies in the UK. Audit
Scotland takes a full part in the Public Audit
Forum (PAF), a body formed by the agencies
in the four UK nations to provide a focus for
developing public audit, making public audit
more efficient and effective, advising on
common technical problems and spreading
good practice. During 2005/06, Audit Scotland
continued to develop links with other audit
agencies in the UK with, for example, staff
secondments on particular projects. We also
undertake the audit of the Scottish-based
operations of UK-wide organisations, such as
the Forestry Commission.

Efficient Government Initiative
In the past year Audit Scotland has worked
in a number of ways to support the Scottish
Executive’s Efficient Government Initiative,
which aims to make public services more
efficient and generate annual savings of £745
million by 2007/08. In February 2005, the
Executive formally invited Audit Scotland to
audit the Scottish public sector’s performance
in achieving the plan’s targets. We set up an
Efficient Government Coordinating Group to
oversee our work, which has included:

• helping the Scottish Executive’s Efficient
Government Delivery Group (EGDG)
develop guidance on recording and
reporting efficiency statements and in
specifying audit requirements. During 2006
we will review the public sector’s progress
on the plan and assess the EGDG’s
management of it, and report in public

• liaising with our UK public audit
counterparts on Efficient Government.
This includes sharing information and
best practice, and co-sponsoring a joint
proposal on developing benchmarks for
public bodies’ administrative facilities

included reorganising the portfolios of work to
cluster council audits and to appoint the same
auditor to councils, health boards and other
community planning partners in the same
geographical area where practicable. The tender
also stressed the importance of auditors
working in partnership to produce more efficient
and effective overall audit arrangements.

Tendering process
for audit work
The Auditor General and the Accounts
Commission appoint private firms to carry out
about 90 of the almost 200 annual audits we
provide for public bodies. At the end of
September 2005 we started facilitating the
process of making appointments for the period
2006/07 to 2010/11. The tender’s aims

Statutory performance indicators
• developing and implementing a diagnostic
tool to assess how well public bodies can
identify, monitor, deliver and report
efficiency savings. The tool is designed to
establish a clear and systematic approach
to the audit of Efficient Government and
ensure Audit Scotland has ‘real-time’
information on progress on the initiative.
It also aims to establish clear baseline
information to highlight key risks and to
enable high level comparisons between
bodies and sectors.

• reviewing the Executive’s Efficiency
Technical Notes, which form the basis
of the plan’s targets. We commented on
the work needed to support and monitor
the plan

Audit Scotland has been involved in a number
of projects to help countries across Europe
modernise their public governance systems.
In 2005/06, two staff members have worked
with the Sigma project in Lithuania, Bulgaria,
Estonia and Malta. Sigma (Support for
Improvement in Governance and Management)
is a joint initiative of the European Union and
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development. The programmes gives
support to help modernise public governance
systems in new EU countries and EU
candidate nations and build public institutions
and systems in the Balkan states. During the
year we have hosted representatives of the
audit offices of Estonia, China, Russia, Western
Australia and Denmark. The Auditor General
also spoke at a conference in Seville and joined
the Audit Committee of the Scottish Parliament
on a fact-finding visit to Denmark.

We will report the outcomes from our Efficient
Government audit work through reports to
audited bodies, Best Value reports on councils,
references in our national studies programme
reports, and sector overview reports. We are
also planning to undertake more detailed work
of some of the plan’s key themes once the
initiative is well underway.
More information and the diagnostic tool can
be found at: www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/
audit/efficient.htm

In 2005/06, the Accounts Commission
changed the way it reported the performance
of Scotland’s councils against its statutory
performance indicators (SPIs). This new
approach allowed us to make the SPI Data
Compendium (the Compendium) and Council
Profiles available on our website in December,
two months earlier than in previous years.
This change reflected the needs of our
stakeholders, who use the data for assessing
performance and benchmarking progress.

As a result of these changes, we saved about
£20,000 in publication costs for 2005/06.
In future the new approach will also save about
£12,500 a year in staff and other costs.
The SPI Data Compendium and Council Profiles
can be found at www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/
performance/index.htm

The Compendium provides all the SPI data for
Scotland’s councils, fire brigades and police
forces. The Council Profiles give individual
profile reports on Scotland’s councils, with
details of their performance against a range of
indicators, and reports comparing councils on
a range of key services.
As part of the changed system of reporting,
we did not publish the accompanying annual
series of pamphlets about separate services.
Instead, we integrated commentary on a
number of key findings from the Compendium
into the Local authority overview report
published in March 2006. Findings from the
SPIs are also used in our Best Value audits
and national studies.
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reports published in 2005/06
Cross cutting

Central government

(Reports for both the Auditor General and the Accounts Commission)

(Reports for the Auditor General)

Moving on?: An overview of delayed
discharges in Scotland

Council housing transfers
(24 March 2006)

Overview of the water industry in Scotland
(13 October 2005)

together with

The transfer of council housing ownership
is bringing benefits for tenants. The report
said management of transfers was improving
but better, clearer measures were needed
to assess impact and value for money. The
handover of more than 100,000 council
homes to new landlords since 1998 has
brought more investment in properties –
doubling it in Glasgow – and promoted tenant
control. It is facilitating increased repairs and
maintenance and the building of new homes,
and is keeping rent increases down. The
Scottish Executive should now reinforce its
approach with clearer goals and measures
for quality of service and tenant involvement.
This would help increase the overall impact
and the value for money of transfers.

Scottish Water has made a good start in
raising the water industry’s performance but
can make further improvements. The report
found that since Scottish Water’s creation in
2002, the body had improved the efficiency
and performance of the water industry and
cut operating costs significantly. However,
the report said Scottish Water could further
improve, and that it faced a challenging
timetable for its £1.8 billion capital investment
programme.

Moving on?: A handbook on modelling
the whole system for delayed discharges
in Tayside
(both 23 June 2005)
The report highlighted the need for action
across all parts of the health and community
care system to solve the problem of patients
who cannot be discharged from hospital even
though they are medically fit to leave. It also
found that although the number of patients
delayed in hospital was steadily falling, a
growing older population meant that further
action was needed to sustain this progress.
The handbook focuses on an innovative project
in which Audit Scotland worked with the NHS
board and three councils that make up the
Tayside Partnership to share an understanding
of how its local care system worked; identify
key factors that lead to delays in Tayside; and
develop a computerised model to help Tayside
test strategies to reduce delayed discharges.

Scottish Executive: Supporting new
initiatives (How Government Works
series) (10 November 2005)
Last year the Scottish Executive launched
new initiatives amounting to £1.4 billion. The
management of these projects is generally
sound, but making changes could help to
improve control of the funding and allow
better assessment of whether the money is
helping to achieve policy aims.
Leadership development
(How Government Works series)
(17 November 2005)

organisations do not have clear policies and
most are unable to link the spending to
improvements in their performance. Strategic
planning and coordination is needed to make
sure that the £5 million they invested each year
in leadership development results in better
managed organisations and better services.
Scottish Executive:
The NorthLink ferry services contract
(22 December 2005)
The Auditor General asked Audit Scotland to
investigate the Scottish Executive’s handling of
a five-year contract, which began in October
2002, to run the lifeline ferry service to the
Northern Isles. This followed reports that the
total subsidy paid to service operator NorthLink
had risen substantially. The main finding was
that the Scottish Executive Transport Group
(SETG) carried out a proper tendering exercise
and NorthLink was awarded the contract
because it submitted the lowest bid for subsidy
in accordance with the relevant EC regulations.
However, there were some limitations in the
information originally given to bidders, and
SETG has worked with NorthLink to improve
this for a new tender.

Scotland’s public sector has good examples of
investment in leadership but many individual

Central government

NHS

(continued)

(Reports for the Auditor General)

Scottish Further Education
Funding Council: A progress report
(26 January 2006)

Waste management in Scottish hospitals:
A follow-up report (12 May 2005)

The Scottish Further and Higher Education
Funding Council, or the Funding Council, is
making progress on a number of fronts.
Concerns over performance management are
being tackled and a more detailed picture of
the sector’s achievements is emerging.
However, the report highlighted areas where
further improvements were required, including
accumulated deficits at seven colleges, the
need for clarity over the strategic direction of
further education, and improvements in
performance information.
Performance management
in Scottish Enterprise
(16 March 2006)
Scottish Enterprise needs to improve how it
evaluates its activities to provide a clearer
assessment of its contribution to growing
Scotland's economy. However, this can be
difficult to measure and Scottish Enterprise’s
approach appears to be well advanced
compared with international counterparts.
The report recommended Scottish Enterprise
work with the Scottish Executive to clarify
on its contribution to the Smart Successful
Scotland policy. Scottish Enterprise has met
all of its progress measures and introduced
new processes and guidance that should
help to improve its performance.

The report found that while progress has been
made since Audit Scotland’s earlier study in
2001, NHS boards and hospitals were still
not managing hospital waste as well as they
could. In particular, they needed to increase
their recycling and ensure they sorted and
stored all waste properly. The report found that
NHS hospitals could save £1.3 million a year
by properly sorting domestic waste from
clinical waste.

Overview of the performance
of the NHS in Scotland
(8 December 2005)

Implementing the NHS consultant
contract in Scotland
(9 March 2006)

Scotland's health service is achieving better
clinical outcomes and cutting most waiting
times. The service has improved the availability
of treatment and is successfully tackling
prioritised conditions such as cancer, stroke
and heart disease. However, in other areas
performance was mixed and the NHS needs
to improve its financial and workforce
management to face future challenges.

A new contract for consultants has cost the
NHS in Scotland an extra £235 million in
its first three years but clear evidence of its
benefits has yet to emerge. The new contract
offers an opportunity to improve patient care
by planning consultants’ work better, but it
is not yet being used to its full potential.
The Scottish Executive, health boards and
consultants need to work together so that
the contract achieves benefits for patients.
The Executive can also learn lessons from
the implementation of this contract for the
management of other large scale projects.

A Scottish prescription: Managing the
use of medicines in hospitals
(28 July 2005)

Tackling waiting times in the NHS
in Scotland
(16 February 2006)

Recent years have seen an increase in the
number and complexity of medicines available
to treat patients and in the types of staff who
can prescribe them. The average spend on
medicines per patient in an acute hospital has
risen by 65 per cent since 2001/02. The NHS
in Scotland could improve the management of
medicines in hospitals to make sure patients are
getting the most benefit from the money spent
in this area.

The NHS in Scotland has made significant
progress towards meeting waiting time targets
over recent years but future targets are likely
to be challenging. Since 2001, the health
service has made good progress in reducing
the longest waits for inpatient, day case and
outpatient care for people with waiting time
guarantees. However, the NHS needs to work
more on developing approaches across the
whole health and community care system to
tackle waiting times.
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reports published in 2005/06 (continued)
Best Value
(Reports for the Accounts Commission)
Best Value audits were developed in 2003/04
to assess how well councils are meeting their
statutory duty to provide Best Value and to
give the public an overview of how well their
council is performing. The Best Value audits
are designed to give a rounded picture of
each council, looking at past performance
and future plans and taking into account
the particular constraints and opportunities
facing each council. The first four Best Value
audits were carried out in the 2004/05 year,
and in 2005/06 Audit Scotland continued to
roll out the programme, publishing another
eight reports.
Inverclyde Council:
The Audit of Best Value and
Community Planning (2 June 2005)
The report said Inverclyde Council must take
urgent, remedial action to address weaknesses
in leadership and direction. Extensive and
fundamental weaknesses in the leadership
and direction provided by elected members
and senior management were significant
factors in preventing Inverclyde Council from
improving. The report said the council should
get appropriate external assistance to address
its core problems.

West Lothian Council:
The Audit of Best Value and
Community Planning (30 June 2005)
The report praised West Lothian Council for its
ability to transform its ambitious vision for the
local area into improving services for the people
who live there. The report said the council
performed well and was fully committed to
continuous improvement.
Dundee City Council:
The Audit of Best Value and
Community Planning (5 October 2005)
Dundee City Council’s services generally
perform well for its community. The council
is committed to regeneration, has ambitious
plans for the city and has made significant
achievements in community planning and
joint working. But there are a number of
improvements required, including the way
in which service performance is scrutinised
and in the openness of decision making.
East Renfrewshire Council:
The Audit of Best Value and
Community Planning (11 October 2005)
The report found that East Renfrewshire
Council was ambitious and successful and

Other local government

service performance was generally strong and
improving. While the report identified some
areas for further improvement it stated that
East Renfrewshire demonstrated many of the
attributes of a council achieving Best Value.
Inverclyde Council:
The Audit of Best Value and
Community Planning – progress report
(30 November 2005)
The report considered the steps taken by
Inverclyde Council to address the concerns
raised in the Commission’s initial Best Value
audit report in June. The report said that
while the council had made progress on its
recovery, there was still a long way to go.
Glasgow City Council:
The Audit of Best Value and
Community Planning (19 January 2006)
The Accounts Commission commended
Scotland’s largest council for its progress on its
improvement agenda and its commitment to
change. However, the report acknowledged
the significant challenges still facing the council
and also highlighted the areas it needed to
focus on, including its performance in some
key service areas.

The Moray Council:
The Audit of Best Value and
Community Planning (8 February 2006)
The report stated that the council was not
yet in a position to deliver Best Value to the
people it serves. The council was described
as inward looking, and as having considerable
variation in service performance. A number
of its practices, including the way in which it
managed performance and monitored the
competitiveness of its services, were weak.
Argyll and Bute Council:
The Audit of Best Value and
Community Planning (14 February 2006)
Argyll and Bute Council faces particular
challenges because of its geographical makeup and the fact that its population is spread
over a wide area. However, even taking this
into account, the council needs to do more to
improve services for local people. The council
remains traditional in its approach to managing
its business and needs clearer leadership and
drive to follow through on its initiatives and to
embed a culture of continuous improvement in
the organisation.

Section 22s

(Reports for the Accounts Commission)
Improving customer service
through better customer contact
(19 May 2005)

Overview of the local
authority audits 2005
(30 March 2006)

The report looked at how councils dealt with
requests for services and information from
their customers, including taxpayers and
business contacts. While councils have made
improvements, the report said they needed to
review organisation and leadership to ensure
their customer service was as efficient and
effective as possible.

Scotland's councils are facing major
challenges and the report called on them
to further increase their pace of change and
improvement. Local authorities are working
in an environment of major change as central
government seeks to reform and modernise
public services. They need to pay particular
attention to developing their longer-term
financial planning and improving the
information they have about how their
services are performing. However, financial
stewardship at councils is generally sound
and statutory performance indicators show
overall improvement in a range of areas.

Following the Public Pound:
A follow-up report (15 December 2005)
Councils need better information about their
funding of external organisations and what is
obtained for the money provided. Scottish
councils provided £220 million to 14,000
organisations to deliver a wide range of
council-related services. The report found that
no council fully complied with guidance which
sets out best practice principles when councils
fund external organisations. There was a high
level of performance in nine councils, moderate
performance in 18 councils and a low level of
performance in five.

Auditor General reports, made under Section 22 of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland)
Act 2000, raise issues arising from annual audits of public bodies under his responsibility. Twelve
Section 22 reports were presented to Parliament. These reports were on:

The 2003/04 audit of
Inverness College

The 2004/05 audit of
Grampian Health Board

The 2003/04 audit of
West Lothian College

The 2004/05 audit of
Highland Health Board

The 2003/04 audit of
Lews Castle College

The 2004/05 audit of
Lanarkshire Health Board

The 2004/05 audit of
the Scottish Prison Service

The 2004/05 audit of
Western Isles Health Board

The 2004/05 audit of
Argyll and Clyde
Health Board

The 2004/05 audit of
Scottish Executive
consolidated resource
accounts

The 2004/05 audit of
the NHS Pension Scheme
Scotland accounts
The 2004/05 audit of
Inverness College
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This year saw:

• the first full year of the modernised audit in the
health sector

• the development of a Best Value approach for health
and central government

• integrated overview reports covering the NHS,
local government and the water industry in Scotland.

Maximising the value of the audit

delivering
the audit

We continually aim to improve the way we work so our audits can
achieve the best possible value and impact for the public. During
2005/06 we continued to develop and rollout our modernised
approach to audit, and refine our methods for Best Value audits
and national studies.
To do this we try to ensure our staff have the knowledge and skills
to support new ways of working, and to build the experiences of
service users into the audit process. We measure the public value
of our work by seeking feedback, tracking changes that occur as a
result of our work, reviewing the quality of the work and assessing
public perceptions of Audit Scotland.

Delivering the
modernised audit
In 2005/06, Audit Scotland carried out the first
full year of the modernised audit in the health
service. We also piloted this new approach in
local and central government. Feedback from
audited bodies and stakeholders has been
very positive, recognising that, through the
development of priority and risk frameworks,
we are taking the time to better understand
what they do. For example:

Delivering quality
While we feel it has been a successful year
we continue to seek opportunities to improve
the way we deliver the audit. For example, we
are currently developing our approach to the
local and best value audits to identify ways in
which they can be delivered more seamlessly,
to the benefit of clients, stakeholder and the
audit teams.

There were no qualifications to the accounts
of local authorities, for only the second time
since local government reorganisation in 1996.
There were two qualifications in the previous
year. There were no reports to the Accounts
Commission as a result of illegality, loss or
impropriety in the way a local authority
conducted its financial affairs.
Breakdown of audited bodies:

We remain committed to delivering a
public audit service that is valued by clients,
stakeholders and the general public. To do
this, we need to ensure quality in everything
we do. In 2005 we revised the Corporate
Quality Framework for Audit Scotland. Building
on existing approaches to quality management
in the organisation, the corporate framework
aims to provide greater consistency in quality
control, management and review.

• Following the first full year of the
modernised audit, a survey of health
clients found that 82 per cent of clients
found their management letters and
governance reports either ‘excellent’ or
‘good’, while 88 per cent found the annual
audit report to be ‘excellent’ or ‘good’.

• In local government, pilots of the
modernised audit in the two councils that
took part were well received. A post
implementation review was conducted on
the two pilots, and recommendations
have been taken forward into the audits
of the 2005/06 year.

• In central government, the modernised
audit was piloted in three areas of the
Scottish Executive. Central government
poses a different challenge to the health
and local government portfolios in that it
covers a wide variety of organisations and
subject areas. As a result of changes to the
way we managed the Scottish Executive
audit, we were able to issue our audit
report on their accounts one month earlier
than the previous audit year.

Reporting arrangements

Central government

59

In 2005/06, 196* final annual audits were
completed. Of these, 113 were done by Audit
Scotland and 83 by private accountancy firms.

NHS

24

Further education*

42

Auditors report to the Auditor General and the
Accounts Commission. In some cases their
work results in requests for further reports on
specific issues, or the audits may be used as
the basis of wider overviews of entire sectors.
Auditors also report directly to the public bodies
they audit, enabling them to identify problems
and plan improvements themselves.

Councils

32

Joint boards

35

Water sector

1

In 2005/06, auditors reported a range of issues
to the Auditor General which he drew to the
attention of the Scottish Parliament. This
resulted in 12 reports on accounts (Section 22
reports). Some related to technical accounting
matters, while others were about issues such as
the breach of EU procurement regulations at
Western Isles Health Board, potential liability at
the Scottish Prison Service and deficits at three
FE colleges and four health boards.

Total*

193

* In October 2005, the Scottish Further Education Funding
Council and the Scottish Higher Education Funding Council
merged to form the Scottish Funding Council. Audit
Scotland produced final audit reports for the first six months
of the 2005/06 year for both bodies during 2005/06.
During 2004/05, Glasgow College of Building and Printing
and Glasgow College of Food Technology merged to form
Glasgow Metropolitan College. Audit Scotland produced
final audit reports for all three bodies during 2005/06.

Our Audit Strategy Group undertakes quality
appraisals of audits, both those delivered
by Audit Scotland and those delivered by
external firms. All but one of the auditors
appraised in 2005/06 obtained a satisfactory
assessment (in 2004/05 all auditors appraised
obtained satisfactory assessments). Action
was taken by the auditor to change the audit
team and ensure that the issues identified
were addressed.
The involvement of private accountancy
firms in public sector audit continues to
support the quality of the overall audit output.
In 2005/06, we assisted the Auditor General
and the Accounts Commission in tendering
for our external appointments for the next
five-year audit cycle (see page seven for
more information).
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In 2005/06 we continued our efforts to make Audit
Scotland a more efficient and effective organisation.
We have been making changes in the way we run our
business, just as audited bodies are expected to improve
the way they run theirs. Our commitment to continuous
improvement is illustrated by the developments in the
way we manage our people, processes and technologies.

Audit Scotland is committed to achieving best value in how we
manage our financial resources, people and technology. To do
this we must ensure our staff have the necessary professional
and managerial skills and the appropriate technology, and that
we manage our resources efficiently.

Building an efficient and
effective organisation

running the
business
Efficiency and
effectiveness
The Audit Scotland Board is prescribed in
statute. One of its main functions is to enable
most of the work for the Auditor General and
the Accounts Commission to be performed by
a single audit agency, with consequent gains
in efficiency and effectiveness.
We apply best value principles to everything
that we do in managing our resources. For
example, over 2004/05 and 2005/06 we
were able to reduce audit fees to the NHS in
Scotland by ten per cent. At the same time
we significantly improved the audit outputs to
NHS bodies and to Parliament. This is seen
in the improved financial and performance
overview reporting to Parliament, which did
not exist before 2000.
The largest part of our income comes from
charges to audited bodies. We benchmark our
charging regime using information from the
Audit Commission and the National Audit
Office and intelligence on audit firms’ fees.
More than a third of the value of our annual
audit activity is put to competitive tender in the
private sector, following full EU procurement
rules. This ensures there is a mixed market for
public audit provision in Scotland and enables
us to set fees at the correct level and contain
the overall costs.

We are developing and rolling out a management development
programme and have mechanisms in place to monitor its impact
and value for money. Similarly, we are implementing a new
finance system. Other projects include an electronic document
and records management system, improved internal and external
communications and an environmental management strategy.
We carry out internal best value reviews and seek feedback from
inside and outside the organisation on our performance.

Accountability

Developing processes

Audit Scotland is held to account through
statutory arrangements put in place by the
Scotland Act and by the Parliament through
the Public Finance and Accountability Act.
The Scottish Commission for Public Audit
(SCPA) is central to these arrangements.
The SCPA scrutinises our budget and
annual report and appoints an external firm,
Haines Watts, to audit our accounts.

We delivered a service review of our facilities
and administrative management functions,
which resulted in taking a more corporate
approach to the management of our estate.
We also developed and implemented an
environmental policy, and gave all staff the
opportunity to contribute to this. The policy
included setting out and committing to a
range of sustainability targets to reduce our
impact on the environment.

We carry out quality and best value reviews
internally. Also, an external firm of accountants
performs a programme of internal auditing of
all our activities. This internal audit programme
is set by, and reports to, the Audit Scotland
Board’s Audit Committee. The committee also
receives regular reports on Audit Scotland’s
risk management process.

We have also reviewed our approach to records
management and will be implementing a new
electronic document and records management
system in 2007.

Diversity
Developing people
Audit Scotland employs about 280 people in
offices in Aberdeen, East Kilbride, Edinburgh
and Inverness. In 2005/06, we introduced a
new learning and development strategy, which
sets out our commitment to the development
of our employees. It involves leadership and
management development, as well as a wide
range of personal and professional development
opportunities for staff at all levels.
We revised our personal development system
(PDS) to make it more streamlined and more
focused on meaningful discussion between
individuals and their line managers.

We introduced the Diversity Excellence Model
into Audit Scotland in 2005/06. We have
assessed our current practice against its
framework and developed a plan for making
diversity an intrinsic part of our work.

Correspondence, complaints
and Freedom of Information
In 2005/06, Audit Scotland received 210 items
of correspondence (193 in 2004/05) raising
issues about the organisations that we audit.
We investigate where we assess that there may
be an audit issue.

The nature and complexity of complaints
varied widely. In examining them, Audit
Scotland focused on whether audited bodies
had incurred expenditure in accordance with
their statutory powers, and whether they had
taken steps to deliver financial probity and
make best use of resources.
During 2005/06, Audit Scotland met its target
of acknowledging correspondence within ten
working days in 95 per cent of cases; and in
78 per cent of cases we met our target of
providing a full response within one month of
the date of acknowledgement. This compares
with 98 per cent and 80 per cent respectively
in 2004/05.
Audit Scotland welcomed the introduction
of the Freedom of Information legislation in
2004/05 and we are committed to its
successful implementation. We provide a
wide range of information in response to
requests every day. We proactively publish
the results of our work and issue press
releases. Also, a wide range of information
is available through our publication scheme.
We keep a log of the requests that are less
straightforward to deal with and have a
formal process, agreed by Audit Scotland’s
Board, for how to treat such enquiries. In
2005/06, we logged nine such Freedom of
Information requests.
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Audit Scotland Board

1

2

3

4

5

6

Audit Scotland provides services to the Auditor General and the Accounts Commission to enable
them to carry out their duties. Its work is overseen by a board which meets around six times a year
to consider plans and strategic direction. The board is chaired by Alastair MacNish. Bill Magee is
Secretary to both the Accounts Commission and the Audit Scotland Board, and is also responsible
for legal and procedural advice.
The board comprises:
Alastair MacNish 1
Chair, Accounts Commission

Robert W Black 2
Auditor General and
Accountable Officer

Phil Taylor 3
Independent nonexecutive member

Caroline Gardner 4
Deputy Auditor General

John Baillie 5
Member of Accounts
Commission

In addition, Managing Director of
Audit Services Hugh Hall 6 acts as
adviser to the board

The Audit Scotland Board
and Management Team

who we are
Governance
Audit Scotland’s work is overseen by its
board, made up of the Auditor General, the
Chairman of the Accounts Commission and
three other members appointed by them.
Currently the three members are John Baillie,
a member of the Accounts Commission;
Phil Taylor, independent non-executive
member; and Caroline Gardner, Deputy
Auditor General and Controller of Audit.
Hugh Hall, Managing Director of Audit
Services, acts as an advisor to the board.
The board has Audit and Remuneration
Committees reporting to it.
The Management Team is responsible for the
day-to-day running of the business. The Auditor
General is Audit Scotland’s Accountable Officer
and leads the Management Team, which also
includes Caroline Gardner, Hugh Hall, Russell
Frith (Director of Audit Strategy) and Diane
McGiffen (Director of Corporate Services).

The Audit Scotland
Management Team
Caroline Gardner
Deputy Auditor General and
Controller of Audit
Caroline works with the directors of
performance audit on performance studies of
public sector organisations and audits of Best
Value in councils. She oversees the overview
reports on health, local government and
central government. Caroline also manages
investigations into issues of public concern.
Hugh Hall
Managing Director of Audit Services
Hugh leads the audit services group. They carry
out or manage the audits of more than 100
public sector bodies in Scotland. Hugh works
with the directors of audit to encourage and
support performance improvements and higher
standards of accountability in the public sector.
Russell Frith
Director of Audit Strategy
Russell is responsible for procurement and
resources, auditing and accounting standards,
technical support and quality assurance.
Diane McGiffen
Director of Corporate Services
Diane manages the development of Audit
Scotland as an organisation. She leads on
business planning and performance reporting
and heads up the following services: human
resources and training, information technology,
finance, administration, and communications.

Our sector teams
Local government

Central government

As director of performance audit David Pia
reports on themes and issues within local
authorities, police boards and fire boards.
David’s team also produces overview reports,
performance studies and Best Value audits
of local government. Typical reports include
Overview of the local authority audits and
Following the Public Pound.

In 2005/06, Arwel Roberts directed the
Central government team, leading both the
performance audit and audit services work
for the sector. The Central government team
covers departments of the Scottish Executive,
national public sector organisations such as
Historic Scotland and Scottish Water, and
further education colleges.

Audit services director Gavin Stevenson
manages the inhouse audit service we
provide to local authorities, police boards
and fire boards, examining their individual
performance. His work includes financial
statements, governance and performance
management matters.

The performance audit team is responsible
for investigating matters of public concern,
overview reports and performance studies.
Typical reports include Overview of the water
industry in Scotland and Performance
management in Scottish Enterprise.

Health and community care
Director of performance audit Barbara Hurst
is responsible for investigating issues of public
concern, and producing overview reports and
performance studies. Typical reports include
Overview of the performance of the NHS in
Scotland 2004/05 and Tackling waiting times
in the NHS in Scotland.
Audit services director Lynn Bradley is
responsible for the inhouse audit services we
provide to the health sector, including the
audit of financial statements, governance and
performance management matters.

The audit services team is responsible for
auditing financial statements, governance and
performance management matters.
We have recently streamlined our arrangements
for managing the Central government and
Health and community care teams, following
the retirement of Arwel Roberts. Barbara Hurst
now directs the performance audit teams for
both sectors, and Hugh Hall oversees the team
providing audit services to the Central
government sector.
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The task of auditing Scotland’s public bodies has
expanded greatly since 2000. In 2005/06, Audit Scotland
spent £25 million on services for the Auditor General and
the Accounts Commission: this is less than 0.1 per cent
of the £27 billion spent by the bodies that are audited.
The majority of these costs are recovered through charges
to these organisations with the balance received as direct
funding from the Scottish Parliament.

A summary of income and expenditure

Audit Scotland is required to produce accounts for each financial
year detailing the resources acquired, held or disposed of during
the year and the way in which they were used. The Auditor
General has been appointed as Accountable Officer and is
responsible for the preparation of these accounts.

Audit Scotland’s accounts are independently audited on behalf of
the Scottish Commission for Public Audit (SCPA), which appointed
Haines Watts to carry out the audit.

financial
summary

Staff and members’ costs
The following section provides a summary of
selected items from the accounts. To view the
accounts in full visit the website www.auditscotland.gov.uk/ar2006

Sources of income

Most income is from charges to audited
bodies and can be broken down as shown in
the table right.

Analysis of expenditure

In 2005/06, 78 per cent of expenditure was
spent on staff and fees to auditors. This
compares with 75 per cent in the previous year.

2005/06

Income

2004/05

£000

% total

£000

% total

13,229

65

9,619

58

Fees paid by health bodies

4,402

22

4,293

26

Fees paid by water bodies

169

1

201

1

Fees paid by further education colleges

553

3

605

4

1,590

8

1,591

10

Bank interest

145

1

134

1

Miscellaneous

190

1

227

1

(259)

-1

(68)

(1)

20,278

100

16,602

100

Fees paid by local authorities

Fees paid by Scottish Executive
& sponsored bodies

Other finance income (pensions)*
Total

* Other Finance Income is comprised of the income from the expected return on the local government pension scheme assets
less the interest payable on the scheme liabilities
2005/06

Expenditure

2004/05

£000

% total

£000

% total

13,458

54

12,952

52

Fees and expenses to appointed auditors

5,952

24

5,675

23

Buildings, rent and depreciation

1,770

7

1,494

6

Operating costs

3,535

15

4,791

19

24,715

100

24,912

100

Staff and members’ costs

Total

During the year, the average number of directly
employed staff was 279 (274 in 2004/05).
The number of staff, excluding the Auditor
General, whose salaries were over £70,000
was nine (five in 2004/05).
Salary £000
Auditor General

130-135

Deputy Auditor General

115-120

Managing Director of Audit Services

115-120

Director of Audit Strategy

85-90

Director of Corporate Services

85-90

Director of Central Government

80-85

Director of Audit Health

80-85

Director of Performance Audit
Local Government

80-85

Director of Audit Local Government

75-80

Director Performance Audit Health

70-75

The Accounts Commission Chair and members
were remunerated as follows:
Banding £000
Chair

25-30

Deputy chair

10-15

Commission members

0-10

Payments made during the year to the independent
member of the Audit Scotland Board fell within the band
£5,000-£10,000.
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Audit Scotland’s performance indicators

Supporting effective democratic scrutiny

Maximising the value of the audit

Performance indicator

Outcome

Performance indicator

Outcome

No. of performance audit
reports published

16 performance audit reports were published*
(17 in 2004/05*).

Percentage of audits delivered against
statutory or Accounts Commission
timescale for each sector

98% of audits were completed on time
(98% in 2004/05).

* this number does not include Best Value or Statutory
Performance Indicator reports.
Response times for correspondence
from members of the public
concerning potential audit issues

In 2005/06, 187 items of correspondence were received.
95% was acknowledged on time. In 2004/05, 193 items
were received and 98% were acknowledged in time.
86% was responded to in full within one month of being
acknowledged (80% in 2004/05).

Outcome

Percentage of invoices paid
within 30 days

96% were paid within the target time.
(94% in 2004/05).

Sickness absence

Sickness levels were, on average, 4 days per employee.

100%
100%
100%
97%
94%

Percentage of audit plans submitted
and fees agreed within specified
timescales

97% of audit plans submitted to Audit Scotland within
specified timescales (78% for 2004/05).

Results of quality appraisal scheme

All but one of the auditors appraised in 2005/06 obtained
a satisfactory grade (ie, B or higher). There was one C
grade. (In 2004/05 all outcomes were satisfactory).

Building an effective and efficient organisation
Performance indicator

By sector:
Health
Central government
Further Education
Local authorities
Other LA audits

72% of fees agreed within specified timescales
(37% for 2004/05).

Average days lost per employee/annum in public services
10.3 days.
Source: CIPD Absence Management Survey 2005

Starters: 35 Leavers: 20
(13 people left in 2004/05).

Staff turnover

appendix ii

Audit Scotland’s publication scheme

Freedom of Information:
Audit Scotland’s publication scheme
Much of the information we hold is freely
available for downloading from our website
(www.audit-scotland.gov.uk). If you do not have
internet access, or if the information is not
available in electronic format, we will provide
a single copy in print or an alternative format.

If the information you require is not in our
publication scheme you can make a request
for it using the contact options listed left.
When requesting information, please include the
following details: your name and address, and
the information or documents you want to see.

You can contact us in the following ways:
Tel:

0131 477 1234

Email:

info@audit-scot.gov.uk

Fax:

0131 477 4567

In writing:

Mandy Gallacher
Audit Scotland
110 George Street
Edinburgh EH2 4LH

If you are having difficulty in identifying the
information you require, please contact us and
we will be happy to help.
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Address:
110 George Street
Edinburgh
EH2 4LH

Telephone:
0131 477 1234
Fax:
0131 477 4567

Website:
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk

Rosalind Wheeler
Secretary
Scottish Commission for Public Audit
Room T3.60
The Scottish Parliament
EDINBURGH
EH99 1SP

SCPA/S2/06/02/4

21 September 2006

Dear Secretary
In your letter to me on 15 May 2006, you wrote that the Commission would appreciate further
information on the specific savings targets which all business units in Audit Scotland are
committed to each year. I write to provide further information to the Commission on this
issue, provide an update of our work on impact and quality, and to inform the Commission of
a potential liability facing Audit Scotland.

Efficiencies
A key driver for our business is the level of increases in charges to audited bodies, which
account for around 75% of our income, and the level of increase in funding from Parliament.
Increases in charges to local authorities are subject to scrutiny by the Accounts Commission
and those for all sectors are subject to comment from the audited bodies themselves. Over
recent audit years the basic average increases in charges have been:
2003/04

5%

2004/05

2%

2005/06

3.8%

2006/07

3.0%

When proposing increases in charges Audit Scotland also provides an indication of the likely
increase for the following audit year in order to allow audited bodies, particularly those
working to three year budgets, to plan their future costs. For each of the audit years 2005/06
and 2006/07 Audit Scotland has been able to reduce the actual average increase from those
previously notified (from 5% to 3.8% for 2005/06, and from 3.8% to no more than 3% for
2006/07).
As detailed in our budget proposal, in NHS audits the final elements of the reductions in cost
arising from the abolition of trusts will be in place for the 2006-07 audits, meaning that the
total recurring annual savings are in audit fees are £264,000 and the cumulative total up to
the 2006-07 audits some £675,000.

We have consistently managed our business to improve our performance and contain fee
increases to a minimum consistent with ensuring that we can respond to essential increases
in our underlying costs and securing the quality of our audit work and compliance with
international accounting standards.
Efficiencies are reviewed and targeted during our budget process. After reviewing the
potential for efficiencies, and based on previous performance, we set a challenging £s target
for expenditure for each business group, rather than a percentage efficiency target. Groups
must deliver the same or increased levels of outputs for that target. For the 2007-08 budget
which the Commission will be considering, for example, the Corporate Services group
received a budget reduction of £115,000, and other budgets were reduced by nearly
£250,000. In addition, we have made a reduction of £160,000 in senior management costs.
These reductions equate to 2% of total Audit Scotland expenditure.
As the Commission knows, we have been going through a process of reviewing and
modernising our core business processes to deliver the audit, and that process has not yet
been fully implemented across all our sectors. Once the implementation is complete, we will
be able to review the costs and benefits of the new process across all sectors and make
informed decisions about potential percentage efficiency targets. The modernisation process
is already delivering efficiencies, however, as it has incorporated revisions to auditing
standards in our core work without additional cost.
We have been driving efficiencies in our internal management through more effective use of
staff. In our corporate services, for example, between 2002-03 and 2005-06, the ratio of HR
team members to staff has moved from 1:56 to 1:70. Similarly, in the same period, the ratio
of IT support and infrastructure team members to staff has moved from 1:45 to 1:56.
This demonstrates efficiency gains in our internal support services.

Best value reviews
To improve on the targets set during our budget process, we also have a programme of
internal best value reviews to 2009-10. In 2006-07, we are reviewing the following areas:
• Corporate printing provision
• Correspondence and complaints handling
• Best value audit in local government
• Programme and project management in corporate services
In 2005-06, we completed a best value review of our facilities management and corporate
administrative support services which resulted in a restructuring of internal resources
designed to deliver improved quality of provision. We have a corporate approach to best
value reviews which ensures a rigorous process.
We are taking part in a support services benchmarking exercise, and although the project is
not yet complete, early results on IT show that support costs are lower than comparable
organisations.

Impact of audit

In your letter, you report that the Commission would be interested in receiving a copy of the
findings of our work to improve the assessment of the impact of all of Audit Scotland’s work.
Although this work has not yet concluded, I thought the Commission might welcome a
progress report on this.
Our work has two dimensions: actions internally to improve our ongoing assessments of the
impact of our work; and working with the other national audit agencies to progress improved
ways of consistently assessing impact.

We have been piloting ways of assessing impact without conducting a specific follow up
study. Over the summer we ran three pilots to test how impact could be assessed using
existing information. The pilots were testing:
• The availability of information
• The staff time required to collect and analyse information
• How regularly data sources should be reviewed
• Whether there is sufficient robust information to answer questions about the impact of
a study
• The degree of commonality across studies in terms of the sources that need to be
reviewed.
Following the pilots, we have now revised our project management framework to include
specific comments about impact when we consider the study selection criteria, and how
potential and actual impacts are assessed during the planning and post implementation
periods of studies.
We have also been contributing to work by the Public Audit Forum (PAF) over the summer
involving all audit agencies in reviewing methods for assessing the impact of audit. The next
meeting of the PAF is considering an interim report on this work, and, with the Commission’s
permission, I will report how that will be taken forward on a national basis at our next
meeting.
I will be pleased to provide further information on the progress of this work as it develops.

Quality process
Our first annual report on our quality processes will be finalised in October, and I shall ensure
that the Commission receives a copy of this when it is available.
I will be happy to discuss any of the issues contained in this letter at our meeting on 27
September.
Potential Liability for former Ombudsman Pensions
Finally, I wish to draw the Commission’s attention to a potential liability. When Audit Scotland
was established it took over the statutory responsibilities of the Accounts Commission as the
“designated body” for the local government ombudsman. This was a statutory arrangement
under which the Accounts Commission/Audit Scotland provided all the back office services
for the Ombudsman and incorporated the financial transactions within its accounts. This
activity ceased when the Public Services Ombudsman was established under the 2002 Act

and the Act attempted to transfer all assets and liabilities of the various former ombudsmen
to the new Public Services Ombudsman.
However recent legal advice obtained at the request of the Ombudsman is firmly of the view
that the Act was ineffective as far as pension liabilities relating to former local government
ombudsmen are concerned. This means that Audit Scotland may be left with a liability of up
to £300,000 which was not intended under the legislation and for which no provision has
been made. Audit Scotland is in contact with the Scottish Executive to seek their assistance
in resolving this matter and implementing the intention of the legislation. At this stage no
amounts relating to this potential liability have been incorporated into the Autumn Budget
Revision or the Budget proposal for 2007/08 but I felt the Commission should be aware of the
issue now, as it may be included in future papers.

I will be happy to discuss any of the issues contained in this letter at our meeting on 27
September.
Yours sincerely

Robert W Black
Auditor General for Scotland
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Audit Scotland
Budget Proposal 2007-08

Introduction
Audit Scotland provides services to the Auditor General for Scotland and the Accounts
Commission. The principal activities of Audit Scotland are to carry out the annual external
audit of around 200 public bodies and to carry out a programme of performance audit studies
across all parts of the public sector in Scotland.
Audit Scotland’s funding comes partly from charges to audited bodies and partly from the
Scottish Consolidated Fund. Audit Scotland is required to submit its budget proposals to the
Scottish Commission for Public Audit (SCPA) for their consideration. The SCPA then make a
report to the Scottish Parliament as part of the annual Budget Act approval process.
This paper represents Audit Scotland’s budget proposals for the 2007/08 financial year. A
separate paper provides information on Audit Scotland’s proposal for the Autumn Budget
Revision for 2006/07.

Business
The business operations and developments are set out in the Corporate Plan 2006-09 as
previously outlined to the Commission. Briefly the core business is:
•

To deliver the annual audit of around 200 public bodies including the Scottish
Executive, Executive Agencies, Non Departmental Public Bodies, NHS Boards and
Trusts, Local Authorities and Further Education Colleges

•

To deliver a programme of performance audit studies, Best Value audits and
overview reports for the Auditor General and the Accounts Commission

•

To prepare reports on issues of public concern arising during the year at the request
of the Auditor General or the Accounts Commission

•

To contribute to the development of public sector policies and practices and to
accounting and auditing standards

The environment in which Audit Scotland operates continues to change. Some of the
principal factors affecting Audit Scotland’s work are:
•

The continuing need for public services to provide improved public services more
efficiently

•

The growth in devolved public spending and the creation of new spending bodies

•

The impact of best value legislation in local government and the application of best
value principles across all public services

•

The extent and respective roles of audit, regulation and inspection

•

The introduction of proportional representation in local government and the likely
number of new elected members

Audit Scotland
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Priorities for development of the business include:
•

Consolidating and refining the revised risk based audit approach to all sectors
including enhancing the links with other work such as Best Value audits

•

Completing the first round of Best Value audits in local government, development of
Best Value work in other sectors and consideration of the scope of the second round
of Best Value audits in local government

•

Completing the delivery of the Management Development programme to equip all
managers for their roles

•

Implementing an electronic documents and records management system

•

Contributing to the Scottish Executive’s scrutiny review and the efficient government
programme

Efficient Government
The Efficient Government agenda affects all of the organisations that we audit. Audit
Scotland is committed to assisting the public sector to achieve efficiencies and is also fully
committed to generating its own efficiencies which can be redirected towards better services
or returned to audited bodies.
In preparing this budget proposal Audit Scotland has considered ways in which efficiencies
may be achieved. Efficiencies included in the budget proposal include a reduction of
£160,000 in management costs by not replacing a member of the management team (which
represents over 10% of total management salary costs). In addition we have during 2006/07
deleted a further director post in central government work and merged his responsibilities
with those of the respective health directors. Assistant Director support to these merged
posts has been strengthened. We are also planning a reduction of £75,000 in the cost of
NHS audit arising from the dissolution of NHS Argyll & Clyde.
Efficiencies put into place in earlier years will also continue – for example we will continue to
only produce local government performance indicators in electronic format, replacement
computers will continue to have their useful lives assessed at four years rather than three,
and environmental initiatives to continuously reduce consumption of paper and energy. In
NHS audits the final element of the reductions in costs arising from the abolition of trusts will
be in place for the 2006/07 audits meaning that the total recurring annual savings are
£264,000 and the cumulative total up to the 2006/07 audits some £675,000.
Our modernising the audit agenda is directly concerned with improvements to service quality
and adding value. NHS audits completed during 2005/06 were the first to be undertaken
using the new methodology and early feedback from audited bodies suggests that they
consider the audit to be more useful than before. In local government and central
government the first year of modernised audits will be completed during the Autumn and we
will continue to refine the approach to add greater value and better integration with other
audit work such as best value audit. In addition the Accounts Commission are commissioning
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a review of the Best Value audits in local government now that half of the first cycle of audits
have been undertaken to see whether improvements can be made and to inform the
approach to the second cycle of audits.
Internal reviews of the business along best value principles have commenced and will
continue during 2007/08.

Summary of Resource Requirements

Summary of resource requirements
2007 ~ 08

2006 ~ 07

£(000)

£(000)

18,241

17,359

7,416

7,610

222

222

Total Net Expenditure

25,879

25,191

Income from charges to audited bodies

19,294

18,798

6,585

6,393

523

508

7,108

6,901

Accounts and governance
Performance audit
Other

Net Operating Cost
Capital

TOTAL RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS

The Total Resource Requirement represents an increase of 3.0% over last year representing
increases in costs and is equivalent to the average gross increases in charges to audited
bodies. The increase reflects significant increases in depreciation offset by a reduction in
employer’s pension contributions and reductions in a number of other corporate budgets.
Annex 1 provides a breakdown of costs by sector and Annex 2 provides an analysis by type
of expense and analyses this between direct and indirect costs. Notes to the Annex explain
the basis of the allocations.
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The Capital Expenditure proposal represents an increase of 3% and is principally for Audit
Scotland’s rolling Information Technology replacement and upgrading programme.

Principal Assumptions
The principal assumptions underlying the budget proposal are:
•

General price inflation is included at 2.5%

•

Provision has been made for pay increases including increments. Audit Scotland’s
pay increases are based on local government arrangements where the basic
increase on 1 April 2007 has now been agreed at 2.5%

•

Employer’s pension contributions remain at 13% plus £200,000 for 2006-2009 as
recommended by the actuarial valuation completed in early 2006

•

Increases to approved auditors will be 4% in November 2006 and a further 2.5% in
November 2007. The higher increase in 2006 reflects the impact of adopting
International Standards on Auditing. These standards have been adopted by all the
UK National Audit Agencies. Costs of audit by in house teams are not assumed to
rise in the same way as the International Standards have already been incorporated
into the revised methodology now in use

•

Depreciation will increase from £319,000 to £610,000 as a result of the completion of
the refurbishment of the offices at 18 George Street, Edinburgh and the
implementation of several technology projects including a new phone system and
replacement printers and computers

Audit Scotland
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Appendix 1

Cost breakdown in gross terms
The table below analyses the expenditure estimated to be incurred by Audit Scotland:

2007-08 Budget

Accounts and
governance
Performance audit
Other

TOTAL

Local
Gov'ment

NHS

Further
Educ'n

Scottish
Executive

£(000)

£(000)

£(000)

£(000)

£(000)

18,241

8,669

3,768

525

5,279

7,416

3,962

1,898

100

1,456

222

Total Net Expenditure

25,879

12,631

5,666

625

6,735

Income from charges to
audited bodies

19,294

(12,631)

(4,368)

(525)

(1,770)

6,585

0

1,298

100

4,965

Total Net Expenditure

25,191

12,311

5,401

644

6,613

Income from charges to
audited bodies

(18,798)

(12,311)

(4,351)

(544)

(1,592)

6,393

0

1,050

100

5,021

Net operating cost

2006-07 Budget

Net operating cost
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Subjective breakdown of running costs:

Direct

Employees:
Salaries and temporary staff
Employer's oncosts
Total employee costs
Approved auditors
Performance audit and other consultancy
Training and development
Travel and subsistence
Recruitment & Other Staff Costs
Professional Subscriptions
Premises
Office expenses
IT
Publications and media
Depreciation
Cost of capital

Total Audit Scotland expenditure
Accounts Commission costs
Sundry income

Total Net Expenditure

Direct

Indirect

Indirect

2007 ~
08
£(000)

2006 ~
07
£(000)

2007 ~
08
£(000)

2006 ~
07
£(000)

2007 ~
08
£(000)

2006 ~
07
£(000)

10,950
2,750
13,700

10,815
3,059
13,874

9,527
2,393
11,919

9,352
2,645
11,997

1,423
357
1,781

1,463
414
1,877

6,089
1,162
510
833
265
40
1,419
511
451
273
610
50

5,502
1159
561
846
268
44
1,429
588
392
283
319
20

6,089
952
444
833
0
35
0
0
0
0
0
0

5,502
932
485
846
0
38
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
210
66
0
265
5
1,419
511
451
273
610
50

0
227
76
0
268
6
1,429
588
392
283
319
20

25,913

25,285

20,272

19,800

5,641

5,485

157
(215)

159
(253)

0
-100

0
-138

157
-115

159
-115

25,855

25,191

20,172

19,662

5,683

5,529
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Notes to Appendix 2
Basis of allocating direct and indirect costs
As a result of discussion with the Commission in previous years about the presentation of information on direct and indirect costs we have reviewed
the presentation of this information and concluded that it would be more useful if the analysis of direct and indirect costs was shown on the basis of
the subjective breakdown of costs.
Direct and Indirect costs can be apportioned in many different ways depending on the nature of the business and the purpose for which the analysis is
required. The essential requirement is to enable comparison between years.
The analysis in the table is based on apportioning costs based on the nature of the cost or on the type of work being undertaken.
Staff costs, training and development and professional subscriptions are apportioned on the basis of headcount. Those staff working in the Audit
Services Group (planning, delivering and reporting annual audits of audited bodies), Performance Audit Group (planning, delivering and reporting
national performance audit studies and best value audits) and Audit Strategy Group (supporting auditors with professional guidance) are regarded as
direct costs. Those staff working in the Corporate Services Group (HR, Finance, Information Systems, Communications and Office Services) are
treated as indirect costs.
Other categories of costs are allocated as direct or indirect based on their type or, in the case of performance and other consultancy, allocated
according to the purpose of the expense eg consultancy to support national studies is treated as a direct cost whereas corporate legal fees are treated
as indirect.
In previous years the analysis was presented between the different parts of Audit Scotland and analysed certain costs such as premises, IT and
depreciation according to the type of activity being supported. The 2006/07 figures have been restated on the new basis of allocation.
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Autumn Budget Revision
2006/07

Audit Scotland
Autumn Budget Revision 2006-07

Introduction
Audit Scotland’s budget and Parliamentary funding is subject to scrutiny by the Scottish
Commission for Public Audit as are any revisions to that Parliamentary funding.
This paper represents Audit Scotland’s proposals for the 2006/07 Autumn Budget Revision.

Overall proposal
The only proposed revision is for Audit Scotland to take up its entitlement to End Year
Flexibility (EYF) arising from 2005/06. The overall proposal is:

Revenue
£000
1,778

Capital
£000
1,525

Total Revision

1,778

1,525

Revised total funding

8,171

2,033

EYF

Revenue EYF
Audit Scotland’s under spend on its revenue budget in 2005/06 was £1,778,000, an increase
on 2004/05 (£430,000) but a reduction from 2003/04 (£2,252,000). The under spend arises
from income being above the level assumed when the budget was set in Autumn 2004
(£0.9m), expenditure below budget (£0.6m) and planned use of EYF from 2004/05 in
2006/07 (£0.3m). The increase in income is due to all auditors accelerating work in the final
year of audit appointments, Audit Scotland teams making good progress in implementing the
revised audit methodology and the bringing forward of the deadline for completion of all NHS
audits in 2006 from 31 July to 30 June meaning that auditors planned to complete more of
the work by 31 March.
For local audit work, which represents around two thirds of the total work, the business year
of Audit Scotland is November to October rather than the April to March financial year.
Accordingly each annual audit will start in the autumn, be part complete by 31 March and be
completed in the next financial year. In preparing the budget Audit Scotland makes an
assumption about how far audits will have progressed by 31 March. If audits have
progressed further than assumed in the budget then the amount of income recognised by 31
March will be higher than planned. At 31 March 2006 all of the factors outlined above worked
in the same direction leading to the overall higher than planned income. Correspondingly
there will be less income than planned in 2006/07 from the audits in progress at 31 March
2006 and possibly less income in the financial year 2006/07 as a whole than budgeted
unless auditors can reach the same stage of completion at 31 March 2007 as at 31 March
2006 which may be challenging in the first year of new audit appointments.
As most of the under spend relates to chargeable audit work we intend to use the majority of
the revenue EYF to reduce audit charges during 2006/07 and in 2007/08. The remainder of
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the EYF will be used to support a number of projects including the 2006 National Fraud
Initiative exercise (£130,000), further development of best value audit outside local
government (£130,000), revenue costs relating to the refurbishment of offices at 18 George
Street (£96,000) and a number of smaller internal projects.

Capital EYF
The capital under spend is £1,525,000. The vast majority of this relates to funding for the
refurbishment of offices at 18 George Street, Edinburgh. The proposed refurbishment was
initially delayed when asbestos was found in the building. The work to seal in the asbestos
has been completed. Following design work identifying a preferred solution which exceeded
the available budget discussions were held with the landlord regarding capital contribution to
the work, possibly in exchange for a revised lease. However the landlord then abruptly sold
the building. Discussions were then held with several property companies who were
prepared to consider acquiring some or all of Audit Scotland’s existing buildings in return for
a long term lease commitment on new offices. After careful consideration of the various
proposals none were found to be acceptable and design work recommenced. Tenders have
been invited to carry out the work and these are currently being evaluated with a view to the
work commencing in October.
The remaining EYF will be used to support the capital element of planned developments as
outlined in the Corporate Plan including the replacement telephony system currently being
installed.
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Commission procedures
Introduction
1. The purpose of this paper is to aid Members’ consideration of a number of
proposed changes to Commission procedures.
Background
2. The Commission has sought to mirror the procedures of other Parliamentary
committees, wherever possible, with the aim of ensuring that the Commission
is as open and accessible as these committees. e.g. meetings are conducted
in public, operate in accordance with Standing Orders, and documents
relevant to the Commission’s work including meeting papers, reports and
minutes are published.
3. In addition, although the funds required for the Commission have been
minimal since 1999, budget bids are considered by the Convener’s Group,
alongside bids from committees, in order to ensure that the Parliament is
formally in favour of funding any fact-finding visits.
Finance Committee inquiry into Accountability and Governance
4. Members will recall that the Commission’s agreed submission to the Finance
Committee’s recent inquiry into Accountability and Governance detailed the
current membership and the nature of existing Commission procedures. This
submission is reproduced at Annex A. These issues were also discussed
during the Convener’s evidence session with the Committee on 16 May. The
Finance Committee published its report on the inquiry on 15 September. The
relevant extract of the report relating to the procedures of the Commission is
reproduced at Annex B.
5. The submission expressed concern that there are a number of areas where
the Commission currently cannot mirror procedures of parliamentary
committees and therefore does not appear to share similar status or be as
open and transparent in its processes. For example, as the Commission does
not feature in the necessary sections of Standing Orders, Commission
meetings are not announced in the Business Bulletin and it is not entitled to an
Official Report of its meetings (rather substantially verbatim records of its
meetings are published as annexes to Commission reports).
6. In addition, the Commission has not been allocated its own cost centre for any
authorised spending such as fact-finding visits, rather this spending is
currently accounted for within the Audit Committee’s spending. This practical
arrangement would not appear to convey the important distinction between the
work of the Audit Committee and the Commission. Finally, as noted by the
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Finance Committee within its inquiry report, meetings of the Commission are
not factored into committee meeting timetabling. This can cause practical
problems when ensuring that the Commission can meet as regularly as
required.
7. Following its consideration of the evidence put before the Finance Committee
by the Commission, the Committee concluded that:
8.“The Committee supports the Commission in its efforts to receive parallel status
to that of parliamentary committees wherever appropriate and considers that
the statutory provisions allowing it to determine its own procedure and receive
resources required from the SPCB places it in a strong position to achieve
this.”
Legislative provisions for Commission procedures and resources
9. The Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 would indeed
appear to provide the SCPA with the necessary powers to request changes to
existing parliamentary procedures. Specifically, the Act states that “the
Parliamentary corporation is to provide the Commission with the property, staff
and services required for its purposes” and that “the Commission may
determine its own procedure”. In addition, there is a provision enabling the
SCPA, where necessary, to give directions to the SPCB in connection with the
exercise of the SPCB’s functions in relation to the SCPA.
Recommendation
10. In order to address the procedural issues outlined above, the Commission is
invited to consider whether to write to the Procedures Committee requesting it
to consider changing procedures (including making the necessary
amendments to Standing Orders) to entitle the Commission to:
a) an Official Report of public meetings;
b) publish forthcoming agendas in the Business Bulletin; and
c) receive a slot within timetabling for committees in the next parliamentary
session.
Members are also invited to agree to instruct the Secretary to the Commission
to arrange a separate cost centre for the Commission.
Margaret Jamieson MSP
Convener
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Annex A
SCPA submission to the Finance Committee’s inquiry into Accountability and
Governance
This submission sets out the specifics of the legislative basis for the SCPA and also
details how the Commission has operated in practice since 1999. Representatives of
the SCPA will of course be happy to discuss further the issues raised in this
submission when they appear before the Finance Committee on 16 May.
Legislative basis for the SCPA
The Scottish Commission for Public Audit is a statutory body established under the
Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 [the PFA Act].
Audit Scotland expenditure proposals
The role of the SCPA in relation to Audit Scotland’s expenditure proposals, is set out
in Section 11 (9) of the PFA Act which states:
“Audit Scotland must, for each financial year, prepare proposals for its use of
resources and expenditure and send the proposals to the Scottish Commission for
Public Audit…which is to examine the proposals and report to the Parliament on
them.”
It is worth noting, in relation to this provision, that the Commission is not responsible
for determining the salary of the Auditor General, as the Act goes on to state that:
“The Auditor General is entitled to a salary of such amount and such allowances as
the SPCB may determine.”
The Act also requires the SCPA to report ‘from time to time’ on the exercise of these
functions.
Audit Scotland accounts and 3E’s
The Act also gives the SCPA responsibility for securing the audit of Audit Scotland’s
accounts and initiating any examination into the economy, efficiency and
effectiveness with which Audit Scotland uses its available resources.
Membership
The Act states that the Commission should consist of 5 MSPs and that one of these
members should be the Convener of the Audit Committee who should be an exofficio member of the Commission.
The remaining 4 members are appointed in accordance with the Standing Orders of
the Parliament (Rule 3.13) which states, amongst other things, that the membership
will have regard to the balance of political parties in the Parliament.
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Operation in practice
Audit Scotland expenditure proposals
In practice the SCPA meets at least twice a year to consider Audit Scotland’s
corporate plan, draft budget bids, their accounts and 3E’s examinations. The meeting
to consider Audit Scotland’s detailed draft budget bid takes place in November, the
SCPA then lays a report before Parliament on this budget bid.
It should be noted that the PFA Act does not state that the Parliament should vote on
the SCPA’s report i.e. the Act is silent on whether the SCPA’s report can recommend
that Audit Scotland’s proposals be rejected or amended in any way. Consequently, it
does not say how – if the SCPA were to suggest rejection or amendment – the
Parliament would deal with this proposal and how it would impact on the subsequent
budget bill. Standing Orders are silent on whether the SCPA, in publishing its report,
could lodge a motion to ask the Parliament to debate and vote on the report.
It may be helpful to note in relation to this issue, in contrast to the SCPA’s statutory
obligation to ‘examine proposals and report’, the legislative basis for the Public
Accounts Commission 1 , provides that the Commission has the power to:
“examine any Estimates prepared by the C&AG to cover the expenses of the NAO,
and to lay such Estimates before the House of Commons with such modifications, if
any, as the Commission thinks fit.”
• Role of the Finance Committee
The PFA Act only stipulates that the Commission should report to the Parliament on
Audit Scotland’s budgets, there is no detail as to the form that this reporting should
take or indeed how this reporting sits alongside the Finance Committee’s role in
considering budgets for organisations which receive top-sliced funding from the
Scottish consolidated fund.
To address this situation the SCPA has agreed a protocol with the Finance
Committee which stipulates that the SCPA provides the Finance Committee with a
copy of its report on Audit Scotland’s budget bid to inform the Committee’s
consideration of each budget bill. It also states that ‘the SCPA will seek to answer
any questions from the Committee and, provided it is not commercially confidential or
otherwise sensitive, make information available to the Committee’.
Whilst the agreed protocol clarifies the information that the SCPA will provide to the
Finance Committee, it should be noted that there is still an element of uncertainty as
to whether, should the Finance Committee wish to do so, it could over-turn a
recommendation of the SCPA in relation to Audit Scotland’s budget, particularly
given that the SCPA is established by legislation and the Finance Committee is not.
Auditors to Audit Scotland
• appointment

1

National Audit Act 1983

SCPA/S2/06/02/7
The SCPA has recently appointed new auditors to Audit Scotland (Haines Watts),
following the end of the previous auditors’ (Mazars) contract. The competitive
tendering process for external auditors is managed by the Parliament’s procurement
office in conjunction with the adviser and the secretary to the SCPA. In terms of
funding for the external auditors, although the SCPA selects and appoints the
auditors to Audit Scotland, Audit Scotland provides the funding for the auditors.
• 3E’s examinations
The SCPA has initiated one economy, efficiency and effectiveness review by the
previous auditors (Mazars) into Audit Scotland’s graduate training programme.
Mazars conducted the examination before reporting to the Commission in May 2005.
The auditors’ findings did not include any specific recommendations on Audit
Scotland’s practices.
The Commission has recently agreed to instruct Haines Watts to undertake a further
economy, efficiency and effectiveness examination, the subject matter of which is an
issued of continued interest to the Commission which will enable Haines’ Watts to
draw on their expertise as external auditors to the National Audit Office. The subject
matter of this examination will remain confidential until the proposed remit has been
discussed with Audit Scotland.
Membership
At present, 4 of the 5 members of the SCPA are also members of the Audit
Committee. Apart from the requirement for the Convener of the Audit Committee to
be an ex-officio member of the SCPA, the link between the Audit Committee
membership and the SCPA membership has been as a result of business managers
continually selecting members of the Audit Committee to become members of the
SCPA. Clearly, members of the SCPA have a keen awareness of the distinction
between their role in scrutinising Audit Scotland on the SCPA and their role on the
Audit Committee.
Procedure
The PFA Act also does not provide specific details of the procedure for meetings of
the SCPA, the make-up of support services for members of the SCPA or any process
for the approval of funding for the SCPA beyond stating that “the Parliamentary
corporation is to provide the Commission with the property, staff and services
required for its purposes” and that “the Commission may determine its own
procedure”.
• meeting procedures
The SCPA has sought to mirror the procedures of other Parliamentary committees,
where appropriate, with the aim of ensuring that the Commission is as open and
accessible as these committees. Therefore, meetings are conducted in public
wherever possible and operate in accordance with the rules defined in Standing
Orders. In addition, meeting papers are published on the web alongside meeting
minutes and reports from the SCPA and Audit Scotland’s internal auditors.
• staff
In practice the Commission’s support staff consist of a secretary (who is also the
Senior Assistant Clerk to the Finance Committee), an assistant secretary (also
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Assistant Clerk to the Audit Committee) and the adviser (also audit adviser to the
SPCB).
• funding
The funds required for the SCPA have been minimal since 1999, the only
expenditure having been a visit to the Danish Parliament’s Public Accounts
Committee by the Convener. Although there is no requirement to do so, the
Convener has requested that such bids should be considered by the Convener’s
Group, in order to ensure that the Parliament is formally in favour of funding any
future fact-finding visits.
• Status
At present the SCPA does not currently have the same status as parliamentary
committees in a number of respects. For example, the Convener is not part of the
Conveners Group. In addition, having insisted on public meetings, the SCPA is not
entitled to an Official Report.
The SCPA notes that the submission from the Parliamentary Standards
Commissioner suggests that the Parliament delegates taking an interest in the work
programme of commissioners and ombudsman alongside the examination of their
budgets to a body of MSPs and cites the SCPA as an example.
Members of the SCPA appreciate the logic of having a body which can consider
proposed budgets in the context of work programme. However, members are of the
view that, should any proposals for additional functions for the SCPA be approved,
careful consideration would need to be given as to how the status of the SCPA may
need to change and how it should be resourced to ensure the SCPA can carry out
any new functions effectively.
Margaret Jamieson
Convener
Scottish Commission for Public Audit
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Annex B
Extract of the Finance Committee report on Accountability and Governance

Procedure
1.
The PFA Act does not provide specific details of the procedure for meetings of
the SCPA, the make-up of support services for members of the SCPA or any process
for the approval of funding for the SCPA beyond stating that “the Parliamentary
corporation is to provide the Commission with the property, staff and services
required for its purposes” and that “the Commission may determine its own
procedure”.
2.
The SCPA has sought to mirror the procedures of other Parliamentary
committees, where appropriate, with the aim of ensuring that the Commission is as
open and accessible as these committees. Therefore, meetings are conducted in
public wherever possible and operate in accordance with the rules defined in
Standing Orders. In addition, meeting papers are published on the web alongside
meeting minutes and reports from both the SCPA and Audit Scotland’s external
auditors.
3.
The SCPA does not currently have the same status as parliamentary
committees in a number of respects. Margaret Jamieson MSP raised this issue in
evidence to the Committee, specifically mentioning that the SCPA is not entitled to an
Official Report of public meetings as Standing Orders dictates that only
“parliamentary proceedings” have Official Reports produced. Staff from the Official
Report do produce a substantially verbatim report of the SCPA’s meetings which is
annexed to the SCPA’s report on Audit Scotland’s budget proposals. Therefore,
evidence which the SCPA takes is made public, albeit usually a couple of months
after the evidence has been taken. In addition, meetings of SCPA are not factored
into the committee meeting timetable. This can cause practical problems in ensuring
that the SCPA can meet as regularly as required.
4.
The Committee supports the SCPA in its efforts to receive parallel status
to that of parliamentary committees wherever appropriate and considers that
the statutory provisions allowing it to determine its own procedure and receive
resources required from the SPCB places it in a strong position to achieve this.

